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6 segments
ELCIE]S Industrial Automotive
» /} Services Components Technology
56 countries
8901 ion
= ocations
o Steel Marine Multi
4 I‘eglonal platforms Europe Systems Tracks
2020/2021 Change in %
Order intake ? million € 39,571 41
Net sales? million € 34,015 18 ()
Adjusted EBIT D2 million € 796 ++ "’
Net loss million € (19) 100
Earnings per share (EPS) Y € (0.17) 98
Free cash flow before M&A Y million € (1,273) 77 ~ 1 O 1 O 00
Net financial assets million € (3,586) 29 ,
tkVA million € (622) --
Market capitalization million € 5,715 ++ employees work tOQEther el
Dividend per share P - - forward-looking solutions for our
S — customers. (as at September 30, 2021)
2 See preliminary remarks.
2020/2021
million € Order intake Net sales Adjusted EBITV?2
Materials Services? 12,710 12,315 587
Industrial Components 2,556 2,512 322 ~
Automotive Technology? 4,506 4,522 264
Steel Europe? 9,283 8,932 116 ° °
Marine Systems 6,662 2,022 26 bllllon
Multi Tracks? 5,883 5,651 (298)
Corporate Headquarters? 5 13 (194)
Reconciliation? (2,035) (1,953) (26) sales generated by thyssenkrupp
Group continuing operations? 39,571 34,015 796 in fiscal 2020/2021.
Discontinued elevator operations? (0] (0] (0]
Full Group 39,571 34,015 796
) See reconciliation in segment reporting (Note 24).
% See preliminary remarks.
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Interview with the Executive Board

“Moving ahead
briskly™

@OWME

thyssenkrupp is in the midst of a transformation
to a high-performing group of companies.
The focus is on aligning the portfolio, structural
change, employee development and measures
to improve performance. At the same time,
thyssenkrupp has embarked on the green transfor- i
- - - - Dr. Klaus Keysberg, Martina-Merz:
mation of its businesses. The company aims to and Oliver Burkhard (from left)
be completely climate-neutral by 2050?. Martina
Merz, Klaus Keysberg and Oliver Burkhard outline
how thyssenkrupp is managing this dual transfor-
mation, the progress made in the past fiscal year Y view of the current debate and the German
and the road ahead. Climate Change Act we are reviewing whether we

can become climate-neutral at an earlier date.
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The past fiscal year was another challenging
period for thyssenkrupp. In addition to the
pandemic, the realignment of the group was
once again the focus of attention. How is that
progressing?

Martina Merz We’ve achieved quite a lot in the
past months. We’ve worked through our priorities
and restructured thyssenkrupp step by step — as
well as dealing with the considerable challenges
resulting from the coronavirus pandemic. We're
moving ahead briskly, examples being the trans-
actions in the Multi Tracks segment. We are con-
tinuing to move resolutely along the course we
have set.

Klaus Keysherg Sustainable profitability and a
stable and positive cash flow are our key per-
formance metrics at the moment. Here we're
making good progress — and we’re confident that
we’ll be able to achieve these goals in the present
fiscal year.

“We’re in the second year

of the transformation and we
can see that the measures
already introduced are having
an impact.”

Martina Merz

TRANSFORMATION OF THE THYSSENKRUPP GROUP

Profitability

@ Improve
(performance, growth, sustainability)

@ Focus

Fight

What makes you so optimistic?

Martina Merz We have a plan and we’re opti-
mistic that it will work. Last year we described
our plan as a “U” lying on its side, encompass-
ing four phases: following the fight against the
impact of the pandemic, the next phases are
focus, improve and scale. We're structuring the
group’s portfolio and simultaneously improv-
ing the profitability of all businesses. To achieve
that, we’re disposing of some activities and in-
troducing measures to enhance performance
everywhere in the group. Through the “Focus”
and “Improve” phases, we’re therefore laying the
foundations that will enable us to concentrate on
the scale phase — in other words, becoming prof-
itable again. We said from the beginning that a
realignment like this will take about three years —
without taking the effects of the pandemic into
account. We're in the second year of the trans-
formation and we can see that the measures al-
ready introduced are having an impact. Now, it’s
particularly important to pave the way for growth.
For us that does not simply mean focused invest-
ments; it also means focusing on strengthening
our competencies and thus on the development
of our employees. I'll be perfectly honest: we’re
moving in the right direction but the road ahead
remains challenging.

Klaus Keysberg The figures for the past fiscal
year also show that our measures are having an

against the impact
of the coronavirus
pandemic

Size/volumes
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impact: all segments improved significantly and
contributed to the group’s positive net income.
Another important factor is that in the past fiscal
year the amount invested in our businesses was
again well above depreciation and amortization.
That means we’re extending our core and actively
shaping the future.

The realignment of thyssenkrupp also affects
jobs. How much progress have you made with
the job cuts you announced?

Oliver Burkhard We have now made about 7,800
of the 12,000 job cuts we announced. Together
with our employee representatives, we’ve man-
aged to find socially acceptable solutions for all
employees affected. I’'m particularly pleased that
we’ve been able to arrange new employment op-
portunities for many employees outside the group
with the aid of a professional outplacement sup-
port company. Nevertheless, reducing our head-
count is painful for us all. However, it’s the only
way to build a successful future for thyssenkrupp.

The realignment of the group includes dis-
posing of some activities. What progress has
been made with the restructuring of the port-
folio in recent months??2

Martina Merz At the end of July, we signed the
agreements on the sale of the mining business.
Shortly after that, we took steps to divest the in-
frastructure business, carbon components and
the Italian stainless steel plant AST. That shows
we’re moving ahead with the focusing of our port-
folio ...

Oliver Burkhard ... while taking great care in the
selection of the new owners. We want to make
sure our employees are in good hands. The re-
alignment of the portfolio means thyssenkrupp
will become smaller in the first step. As a second

Martina Merz

*1963, CEO since October 1, 2019, appointed until
March 31, 2023

step, it will become stronger because it is more
focused. That will benefit everyone — investors,
customers and employees.

A stand-alone solution for the steel business
is still a key project. What'’s the latest on that?

Martina Merz  We’re still convinced that a stand-
alone solution offers the best future prospects
for the steel business. We’re continuing to focus
on improving operating performance and imple-
menting the steel strategy 20-30. When the time
comes, we’ll be able to assess whether and, if
so how, the steel business can stand on its own
feet. That remains a complex and economically
challenging task. The decision depends on a wide
range of factors — including external factors. We
need a regulatory framework that offers planning

A Further details can be found in the
“Multi Tracks” section of the “Report
on the economic position”.
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certainty, especially with a view to the green
transformation. We’re working flat out on the is-
sues, but it takes time, even though the present
market trend is helpful.

Klaus Keysberg In any case, we’ve made good
progress in improving our competitiveness
thanks to our steel strategy 20-30. We're continu-
ing along this route. That is shown not least by
another portfolio adjustment, the closure of the
heavy plate business, which we completed at the
end of the last fiscal year as scheduled.

You mentioned the green transformation of
the steel business. That’s a herculean task,
isn’t it??

Klaus Keysberg Green steel is the future — and
as one of the technology and innovation leaders
in the sector, thyssenkrupp is at the forefront.
Basically, we’re already right in the middle of the
transformation to climate-neutral steel production.

Oliver Burkhard  In the long term, we want to com-
pletely avoid CO, emissions in steel production.
To do that, we're focusing on the direct reduction
process. This process is an environment-friendly
alternative to blast furnaces using hydrogen in-
stead of carbon. We’ve proven that the technolo-
gy works: our production process is TUV-certified
and we can supply the same quality of steel to
our customers in the future — but climate-neutral.

“Green steel is the future — and as one
of the technology and innovation
leaders in the sector, thyssenkrupp is

at the forefront.”

Dr. Klaus Keysberg

That sounds promising but it requires consid-
erable investment. Has thyssenkrupp got the
money for that?

Klaus Keysberg The switch to direct reduction
plants is the biggest change in the steel industry
since the invention of the blast furnace. At the
same time, it’s an enormous step towards reduc-
ing CO, emissions throughout the industry. No
steel producer can accomplish this transforma-
tion on its own. This is a task for society as a
whole, for which we need a clear political will and
an intelligent mix of instruments that facilitates
the investments and cushions the higher operat-
ing costs. We also need to create incentives to
develop attractive markets for green steel.

Martina Merz Our other businesses are also
helping our customer industries to become cli-
mate-neutral. Therefore, | see the green transfor-
mation above all as an opportunity.

3You can find further details in the “Climate,
energy and environment” and “Technology
and innovations” sections.
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And what contribution is thyssenkrupp mak-
ing?4

Martina Merz | firmly believe that our engineering
expertise can make a big contribution to the de-
carbonization of the industry. We want to make
thyssenkrupp completely climate-neutral by
20509 — that means in terms of our own direct
emissions, emissions from purchased energy
and emissions along the entire value chain. In
2021, thyssenkrupp was included in the Carbon
Disclosure Project’s A list for the fifth time in suc-
cession. That means we were once again singled
out as one of the world’s leading companies ...

Klaus Keysberg ... and we’re currently examin-

ing how we could become climate-neutral even
faster. Our groupwide Climate Action Program for
Sustainable Solutions ensures that our climate
targets are realized. Specifically, that means we’re
optimizing our own processes, enabling our cus-
tomers to achieve their climate targets through

our products and solutions, and engaging in the
socio-political debate on a climate-neutral future.

What does that mean exactly?*

Klaus Keysberg  As a company, we can become
carbon-neutral by changing our own production
processes, recycling resources, becoming more
energy-efficient and, wherever possible, using
electricity from renewables ...

Martina Merz ... as well as help our customers to
achieve their climate targets. Take our automo-
tive supply operations, for example: we’re already
80 percent independent of the type of powertrain
and we’re concentrating on e-mobility, self-driv-
ing vehicles and sustainability. We embarked
on the transformation of our powertrain compo-
nents business very early on. Coming from the
conventional combustion engine side, we start-
ed to develop and industrialize new products for
electric vehicles about ten years ago. Today, we

*1964, CFO,

“You can find further details in the “Climate,
energy and environment” and “Technology
and innovations” sections.

91n view of the current debate and the German
Climate Change Act we are reviewing whether
we can become climate-neutral at an earlier
date.

Dr. Klaus Keysberg

member of the Executive Board
since October 1, 2019,
appointed until July 31, 2024
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manufacture rotor shafts and other products for
e-mobility and self-driving vehicles. We’re driving
the transformation of this business from within.

Are there examples of other sectors that
thyssenkrupp is supporting as they become
carbon-neutral?

Oliver Burkhard The energy sector. We’ve been
supplying slewing rings to all major wind tur-
bine producers worldwide for many years. This
business will continue to grow in the long term
because of the need to massively expand renew-
able energy. To extend our leading market and
technology position still further, we’re investing
specifically in research and development and ex-
pansion of production. In this way, we can also
supply components for the new generation of in-
creasingly large wind turbines.

Klaus Keysberg Our Materials Services business
also makes a contribution to protecting natural re-
sources. By optimizing global material flows with
the aid of artificial intelligence, resources can be
used more efficiently, leading to less waste and
therefore less CO,.

Green hydrogen plays an important role in
the energy transition. What are your plans for
the development of thyssenkrupp’s hydrogen
business?

Martina Merz  Worldwide, green hydrogen is one
of the markets with the best growth prospects.
Our water electrolysis technologies are a very
good basis for us to benefit from the high de-
mand for production processes for green hydro-
gen. We want to make best use of this upfront
advantage. Therefore, we’re currently looking
intensively at the best way to drive forward our
hydrogen business. One option is a stock market
listing to optimize growth.

So thyssenkrupp is stepping up its sustain-
ability? What role does the workforce play in
that?9®

Oliver Burkhard | think the dimension of our pres-
ent transformation is already clear. There will be
fundamental changes in technologies, production
processes and workflows in the coming years.
That will bring a need for completely new com-
petencies. We can only become a climate-neutral

9 Further details can be found in the “Employ-
ees” section.

“Our aim is for all businesses to be
among the best in their respective
sectors. That requires continual hard

work.”

Oliver Burkhard

10
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and sustainably profitable group of companies if
we have well-trained and motivated employees.
They are the basis for every type of success. We
therefore do many things to foster training and
development. We also invest in working condi-
tions that encourage diversity and equality of
opportunity and provide the ideal basis for inno-
vations.

Martina Merz thyssenkrupp is more attractive
than ever, especially for talented young people.
We can offer opportunities to work on major proj-
ects driving the green transformation of whole
industries.

In the coming fiscal year, there are key deci-
sions to be made on steel and the hydrogen
business. Is the realignment of thyssenkrupp
entering the home straight?

Oliver Burkhard We’'ve definitely made good
progress with the structural aspects of the re-
alignment. But overall we’re still some way from
our target. Our aim is for all businesses to be
among the best in their respective sectors. That
requires permanent hard work.

Klaus Keysberg Therefore, “Performance first” —
i.e. improving the performance and competitive-
ness of all businesses — still has top priority. Our
endeavors will be clearly visible in our figures in
the current fiscal year as well, especially the de-
velopment of the cash flow. The steel business
will also show a further significant improvement.

Martina Merz  The green transformation is a goal
which all efforts are worthwhile. Our plan for the
realignment of thyssenkrupp is right and the
progress we’re making in implementing it is ad-
mirable. That motivates us every day to continue
systematically along this challenging route.

Thank you for your time.

11

Oliver Burkhard

*1972, CHRO since February 1,
2013, Labor Director since
April 1, 2013, appointed until
September 30, 2023
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Report by the Supervisory Board

Prof. Dr.-Ing.
Siegfried Russwurm

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dear Shareholders,

Before | inform you about the work of the Supervisory Board and its committees in fiscal year
2020/2021, | would first like to take a brief look back at this year as a whole and the diverse range
of topics to which we devoted our time and attention. It was another year of uncertainty over the
further course of the coronavirus pandemic. Nevertheless, the lesser effects of coronavirus and the
easing of the lockdown measures necessitated by the pandemic had a positive impact year-on-year.
As in the previous year, the Executive Board was resolute in its response, working systematically to
drive forward both the operating performance of the businesses and the further development of the
company’s portfolio as part of the transformation journey on which it has embarked. One good
example here is the Multi Tracks segment, where agreements were signed for the sale of further
businesses to new owners that are able to develop these lines of business with an eye to the future.

12
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In the process, it was possible to safeguard employees’ future rights. Further progress was also
made in changing the organization, on the one hand by implementing additional restructuring
measures and on the other by treading new paths in the workplace and strengthening the
performance culture. The Supervisory Board closely oversaw the gradual implementation of the
transformation process and will continue to do so. Progress is reported and discussed regularly at
the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees.

The work of the Supervisory Board and the committees was also dominated by the implementation
of numerous statutory requirements, such as the time limit placed on audit engagements, resulting
in the engagement being put out to tender, and the compensation system for Executive Board
members.

Cooperation between Supervisory Board and Executive Board

In fiscal year 2020/2021 the Supervisory Board regularly advised the Executive Board on the
management of the company and continuously supervised its conduct of business. We satisfied
ourselves that the Executive Board’s work complied with all legal and regulatory requirements at all
times. The Executive Board fulfilled its duty to inform. It furnished us with regular written and verbal
reports containing up-to-date and comprehensive information on all issues of relevance to the
company and the group relating to strategy, planning, business performance, the risk situation and
compliance. This also included information on variances between actual performance and previously
reported targets as well as on budget variances (follow-up reporting). Due especially to pandemic-
related economic developments, the Supervisory Board devoted time and attention to the regular
interim planning updates established by the Executive Board. In the committees and in full
Supervisory Board meetings, the members of the Supervisory Board had ample opportunity to
critically examine the reports and resolution proposals submitted by the Executive Board and
contribute suggestions. In particular, we discussed intensively and examined the plausibility of all
transactions of importance to the company on the basis of written and verbal reports by the Executive
Board. On several occasions, the Supervisory Board dealt at length with the company’s targets, the
risk situation, and in this context with cybersecurity in particular, refinancing and liquidity planning
and the equity situation. Based on the analysis of the value potential of the group’s businesses and
the opportunities and risks of strategic steps, critical operating issues were presented to the
Supervisory Board for discussion. Where required by law, the Articles of Association or the rules of
procedure for the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board provided its approval of individual business
transactions.

In view of the current situation, the Supervisory Board and Executive Board continued the significantly
intensified collaboration and information exchange begun in fiscal year 2018/2019 and in particular
discussed the framework for the transformation of thyssenkrupp as well as the impacts of and
reactions to the coronavirus pandemic in monthly meetings of the Executive Committee attended by
Executive Board members and occasionally by external advisors, too.

In addition, in the periods between meetings the chairmen of the Supervisory Board and its
committees engaged in a close and regular exchange of views and information with the Executive
Board and were informed about major developments. Important facts were reported immediately to
the subsequent Supervisory Board or committee meetings. Before the Supervisory Board meetings
the shareholder and the employee representatives each held separate meetings to discuss the
agenda items. Conflicts of interest of Executive Board and Supervisory Board members, which must
be disclosed to the Supervisory Board immediately, did not occur in the past fiscal year.

13
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thyssenkrupp assists the members of the Supervisory Board with the training and professional
development measures that the members themselves are generally responsible for undertaking in
fulfilling their duties. For this, the company offers subject-specific information and training events.
These include plant tours, such as the tour of the Duisburg steel works conducted in June of the
reporting year. The lines of business within the group of companies are presented in detail to new
Supervisory Board members in particular.

The attendance rate at the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees was 100%. The
following table shows attendance in individualized form:

ATTENDANCE RATE AT THE MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND
ITS COMMITTEES FY 2020/2021

Supervisory Board Meetings Committee Meetings
Attendance Attendance
Attended Meetings rate in % Attended Meetings rate in %
Prof. Dr.-Ing. Siegfried Russwurm,
Chairman 4 4 100.00% 34 34 100.00%
Jurgen Kerner, Vice Chairman 4 4 100.00% 32 32 100.00%
Birgit A. Behrendt 4 4 100.00% J. A A
Stefan Erwin Buchner
(since Feb. 5, 2021) 2 2 100.00% / . .
Dr. Wolfgang Colberg 4 4 100.00% / J. .
Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Ursula Gather 4 4 100.00% 6 6 100.00%
Angelika Gifford 4 4 100.00% / A .
Dr. Bernhard Gunter 4 4 100.00% 31 31 100.00%
Achim Haas 4 4 100.00% A A A
Friederike Helfer 4 4 100.00% 11 11 100.00%
Tanja Jacquemin 4 4 100.00% 5 5 100.00%
Daniela Jansen (since Feb. 5, 2021) 2 2 100.00% / . A
Dr. Norbert Kluge (until Feb. 5, 2021) 2 2 100.00% / A A,
Barbara Kremser-Bruttel 4 4 100.00% / J. A
Dr. Ingo Luge 4 4 100.00% 6 6 100.00%
Tekin Nasikkol 4 4 100.00% 4 4 100.00%
Peter Remmler 4 4 100.00% 4 4 100.00%
Dirk Sievers 4 4 100.00% 32 32 100.00%
Dr. Lothar Steinebach
(until Feb. 5, 2021) 2 2 100.00% 1 1 100.00%
Dr. Verena Volpert (since Oct. 1, 2020) 4 4 100.00% 4 4 100.00%
Friedrich Weber 4 4 100.00% / A A
Isolde Wiirz 4 4 100.00% / A A

The members of the Executive Board took part in Supervisory Board and committee meetings;
however the Supervisory Board also met regularly without the Executive Board.

14
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Supervisory Board meetings

A total of four Supervisory Board meetings were held in the reporting year. The range of topics that
the Supervisory Board dealt with included the current business and earnings situation and the
parent-company and consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2020. On
the recommendation of the Audit Committee and after discussion with the auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft (PwC), the Supervisory Board
approved the parent-company and consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2019/2020 and
thus adopted the parent-company financial statements.

At two meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt with the business and investment planning for fiscal
year 2020/2021 and the updates to the planning. The Supervisory Board also turned its attention
to the necessary tender of the audit engagement under the direction of the Audit Committee and its
final assessment of the audit firms. In line with the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a new
statutory and group auditor for fiscal year 2022/2023 onwards will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting on February 4, 2022.

Matters related to Executive Board and Supervisory Board compensation were also on the agenda.
Besides setting the variable compensation for the Executive Board, this mainly involved passing a
resolution on the new system of Executive Board compensation drafted by the Personnel Committee,
which was subsequently approved at the 2021 Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board also
assessed the current system of Supervisory Board compensation, which was likewise approved at
the Annual General Meeting. In addition, the Supervisory Board dealt with corporate governance, the
thyssenkrupp Internal Control System (ICS), the subject of compliance, the 2020 EMIR compliance
audit pursuant to § 32 German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) and the regular updates on all
segments. At the Supervisory Board meetings, the individual segments gave detailed presentations
on their business performance and business prospects.

In connection with the Executive Board reports on the state of the thyssenkrupp group and the
realization of the transformation journey, a large part of the discussions focused on improving
performance, portfolio measures and the thyssenkrupp group’s short- and medium-term earnings
targets. On the basis of a focused analysis of value levers along the entire length of the segments’
value chain, the Supervisory Board regularly discussed the performance targets and the extent to
which they had been achieved, combined with recommendations for implementing the necessary
measures faster. Other points of discussion included the target returns for the various businesses
derived from competitor benchmarking, the respective action plans for achieving them and the
consequences of the business and investment plans for the financing of the group. The portfolio
issues dealt with at length included the options for disposals in the Multi Tracks segment. In the
reporting year, new owners were found for the Mining, Infrastructure, Carbon Components and AST
businesses. The options for the Steel Europe segment were also explored. As there were no viable
external consolidation options that could be actioned, the Executive Board proposed an in-depth
examination of the option of spinning off the Steel Europe segment, which the Supervisory Board
approved. Due to the complexity of this option, the process of examination is still ongoing; the
Executive Board reports regularly to the Supervisory Board or its committees on the progress of the
examination. The Supervisory Board also looked at the growth opportunities of the remaining
thyssenkrupp group excluding the Steel Europe segment.

In fiscal year 2020/2021, after considering the recommendations and suggestions of the German
Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) as amended on December 16, 2019, the Supervisory Board

15
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decided to issue and publish a total of two declarations of conformity — including during the year.
The current declaration of conformity, issued at October 1, 2021, is available on the thyssenkrupp
website. In addition, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board report on corporate governance at
thyssenkrupp in the corporate governance statement.

Report on the work of the committees

The primary task of the Supervisory Board’s six committees is to prepare decisions and topics for
discussion at the full meetings. The Supervisory Board has delegated individual decision-making
powers to the committees where this is legally permissible. The powers of the committees and the
requirements on committee members are set out in the rules of procedure for the respective
committees. The chairs of the committees provided the Supervisory Board with regular detailed
reports on the work of the committees in the reporting year. The chairs of the committees were also
in close contact with the other members of their committees outside the regular meetings to
exchange views on particularly important topics. The compositions of the six committees as at
September 30, 2021 are shown in the section “Supervisory Board”.

The Executive Committee (Prasidium) met 16 times in the past fiscal year due to the current situation
and the preparations for the seminal meetings of the Supervisory Board. In addition to preparing the
full Supervisory Board meetings, the work of this committee focused on the financial position and
earnings performance of the group, topics in connection with the transformation of thyssenkrupp as
well as appropriate reactions to the effects of the coronavirus pandemic.

The Personnel Committee held seven meetings in fiscal year 2020/2021 in order to prepare personnel
matters concerning active Executive Board members and matters related to benefits for former
Executive Board members of thyssenkrupp AG for the Supervisory Board. Where required,
resolutions were passed or recommendations for resolutions were made to the Supervisory Board.
The meetings focused on the new system of Executive Board compensation, which was approved at
the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021, the related decisions setting the variable
compensation and the disclosures in the compensation report in the new format pursuant to § 162
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The committee also dealt with general Executive Board matters,
partly in the context of benefits for former Executive Board members, as well as management
development and succession planning in the thyssenkrupp group.

The Audit Committee met five times in fiscal year 2020/2021. Alongside Executive Board members,
the meetings were also attended by representatives of the auditors PwC, who were elected by the
2021 Annual General Meeting and subsequently appointed by the Audit Committee. The auditors
declared to the Audit Committee that no circumstances exist that could lead to the assumption of
prejudice on their part. The Audit Committee obtained the required auditors’ statement of
independence, reviewed their qualification, and concluded a fee agreement with the auditors. In
addition a groupwide survey of auditing quality was carried out; the results of this as well as the
additional services provided by PwC alongside the audit of the financial statements were discussed
in the Audit Committee. Dr. Bernhard Ginther, chairman of the Audit Committee, was also in regular
contact with the auditors between meetings. The heads of relevant group functions were also
available to provide reports and take questions in the committee meetings.
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In the reporting year, the committee’s work focused on examining the 2020/2021 parent-company
and consolidated financial statements along with the combined management report including the
fully integrated non-financial statement, the combined corporate governance statement of the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board regarding the statements issued by the Executive Board and
the auditors’ reports, as well as on preparing the Supervisory Board resolution on these items. In
addition, the interim financial reports (half-year and quarterly reports) were also discussed in detail
and adopted, taking into account the auditors’ review report. With regard to PwC, the list of non-
audit services by the statutory auditor that require approval was established, and the budget for the
performance of non-audit services for fiscal year 2020/2021 was set. Regulation (EU) 537/2014
mandates regular external rotation of the statutory or group auditor. thyssenkrupp AG is legally
required to rotate its auditor in this way for fiscal year 2022/2023. The Audit Committee therefore
set up a structured process for putting the audit out to tender and conducted that tender. In doing
so, it was assisted by an internal project team engaged by the committee. The Audit Committee
documented the tender in a report and, after carefully analyzing the bids and presentations received,
recommended two candidates to the Supervisory Board, at the same time expressing a duly justified
preference.

In several meetings the Audit Committee monitored the accounting process and discussed the
effectiveness of the internal control system and optimizations made to it, the effectiveness of the risk
management system and the internal auditing system. It also dealt in detail with the main legal
disputes and compliance in the company and discussed at length the development of strategic
compliance measures at thyssenkrupp.

The Audit Committee defined the following mandate as the focus of the audit: “Accompanying audit
of preparatory measures to implement the EU Taxonomy Regulation (taxonomy readiness check)”.
The auditors reported the results of their audit to the Audit Committee at its meeting on November
15, 2021. The recommended actions proposed at that meeting are to be promptly implemented in
fiscal year 2021/2022 following evaluation by the Executive Board and the specialist departments.

In addition, in the presence of the head of Corporate Internal Auditing the committee discussed the
internal audit results, the audit processes and the audit planning of the internal auditing team for
fiscal year 2020/2021. Further points of focus were the non-financial statement fully integrated into
the management report, the equity capital and rating situation, the EMIR compliance audit for fiscal
year 2019/2020 pursuant to § 32 WpHG and the current performance of all segments.

The Strategy, Finance and Investment Committee held four meetings in fiscal year 2020/2021.
Discussions focused on preparing decision recommendations in its area of responsibility for the
Supervisory Board. At each meeting, the committee dealt with the operational situation of the group
and its further development. As in the previous year, the other main topics addressed by the
committee included the thyssenkrupp group’s transformation journey and its progress, the
narrowing-down of the options for the Steel Europe segment and the recommendation put to the
Supervisory Board for an examination of the option of a spin-off, the award of the Norwegian
submarine contract to the Marine Systems segment, performance and restructurings in the Multi
Tracks segment, including the disposals of individual businesses to external buyers, the general trend
toward climate protection and the dynamic market environment for hydrogen, the risk assessment
regarding cyber attacks on thyssenkrupp and IT security measures, financing and liquidity planning,
business and investment planning and the review of the profitability of specific completed investment
projects. In September 2021, the committee dealt at length with the group’s business and investment
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plans for fiscal year 2021/2022 and decided on those plans. The committee also dealt extensively
with the key sustainability topics in the reporting year.

The members of the Nomination Committee convened for two meetings in the past fiscal year, firstly
to make preparations for the appointment of a replacement shareholder representative on the Audit
Committee. Secondly, it received and approved the 2020/2021 profile of required skills and expertise
prepared for the Supervisory Board with external support. The profile of required skills and expertise
is to be regularly reviewed in the course of the thyssenkrupp group’s gradual development.

There was once again no cause to convene the Mediation Committee under § 27 (3) Codetermination
Act (MitbestG) in the reporting year.

Audit of the parent-company and consolidated financial statements

Elected by the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021 to audit the financial statements for
fiscal year 2020/2021, PwC audited the parent-company financial statements for the fiscal year
from October 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021 prepared by the Executive Board in accordance with
HGB (German GAAP) rules and the management report on thyssenkrupp AG, which is combined with
the management report on the thyssenkrupp group. The auditors issued an unqualified
audit opinion. In accordance with §315e HGB, the consolidated financial statements of
thyssenkrupp AG for the fiscal year from October 1, 2020 to September 30, 2021 and the
management report on the thyssenkrupp group, which is combined with the management report on
the company, were prepared on the basis of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
applicable in the European Union. The consolidated financial statements and the combined
management report were also given an unqualified audit opinion by PwC. The auditors also
confirmed that the Executive Board has installed an appropriate reporting and monitoring system
which is suitable in its design and handling to identify at an early stage developments which could
place the continued existence of the company at risk.

The financial statement documents and audit reports for fiscal year 2020/2021 were discussed in
detail in the meetings of the Audit Committee on November 15, 2021 and the Supervisory Board on
November 17, 2021. The auditors reported on the main findings of their audit. They also outlined
their findings on the internal control system in relation to the accounting process as well as the risk
early detection system, and were available to answer questions and provide additional information.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee reported in depth at the full Supervisory Board meeting on the
Audit Committee’s examination of the parent-company and consolidated financial statements. The
Supervisory Board examined the parent-company and consolidated financial statements and the
combined management report, including the non-financial statement fully integrated into the
management report, as well as the compensation report pursuant to § 162 AktG and raised no
objections. The parent-company and consolidated financial statements were approved. The parent-
company financial statements prepared by the Executive Board of thyssenkrupp AG were thus
adopted.
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A resolution on profit appropriation is not required at the 2022 Annual General Meeting, as the parent-
company financial statements of thyssenkrupp AG show an unappropriated loss. No dividend
proposal for fiscal year 2020/2021 will therefore be presented for resolution at the Annual General
Meeting on February 4, 2022.

Personnel changes on the Supervisory Board and Executive Board
There were the following personnel changes on the Supervisory Board of thyssenkrupp AG in the
reporting year:

On the shareholder representative side, the Alfried Krupp von Bohlen und Halbach Foundation
delegated Stefan Erwin Buchner for Dr. Lothar Steinebach, who stepped down at the close of the
Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021. By way of an amendment to the Articles of Association,
the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021 resolved to transition to a staggered board where
the terms of office of the Supervisory Board members end at different times. The Annual General
Meeting on February 5, 2021 was therefore able to elect Dr. Verena Volpert, who had been court-
appointed as a member of the Supervisory Board with effect from October 1, 2020 until the close of
the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021, to serve for three years beyond the regular term
of office end of all other elected shareholder representatives at the close of the Annual General
Meeting in 2023 with effect from the close of the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021. The
transition to a staggered board created the opportunity to adapt the line-up of shareholders on the
Supervisory Board in line with a changing environment. A staggered board also results in a better
balance between preserving existing and gaining new expertise and thus strengthens the continuity
of the work of the Supervisory Board. Lastly, different term of office end dates facilitate the search
for suitable candidates for the Supervisory Board, as the shareholder representatives on the
Supervisory Board do not all have to be freshly elected at a single Annual General Meeting. The terms
of office of the employee representatives and the members delegated by the Alfried Krupp von Bohlen
und Halbach Foundation remain unaffected by this arrangement.

On the employee representative side, Dr. Norbert Kluge stepped down from the Supervisory Board
at the close of the Annual General Meeting on February 5, 2021. With effect from the close of that
Annual General Meeting, Daniela Jansen was court-appointed to succeed him as a member of the
Supervisory Board for the remaining term of office of the employee representatives on the
Supervisory Board.

The members of the Supervisory Board thanked the departing members for their good and
constructive work over many years.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Executive Board members, all thyssenkrupp group employees
worldwide and the employee representatives of all group companies for their efforts and
achievements in fiscal year 2020/2021.

The Supervisory Board

S che—

Prof. Dr.-Ing/Siegfried Russwurm
Chairman
Essen, November 17, 2021
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thyssenkrupp stock

KEY DATA OF THYSSENKRUPP STOCK

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020  2020/2021

thyssenkrupp stock
master data

Capital stock million € 1,593 1,593 1,593 1,593 1,593 ISIN®
million Shares  DE 000 750 0001
Number of shares (total) shares 622.5 622.5 622.5 622.5 622.5 ADR? US8862902075
Market capitalization end September million € 15,613 13,534 7,912 2,683 5,715 Symbols
Closing price end September € 25.08 21.74 12.71 4.31 9.18 T*A Frankfurt, Dusseldort
High € 26.85 26.41 20.90 15.82 11.95 TKAMY  ADR (over-the-counter trading)
Low € 19.77 18.86 9.41 3.55 3.88
! International Stock Identification Number
2 American Depositary Receipt
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) » % 21 (21) (40) (52) 61
Dividend per share € 0.15 0.15 — — —
Dividend yield % 0.6 0.7 — — —
Dividend payout million € 93 93 — — —
Earnings per share (EPS) € (1.15) 0.10) (0.49) 15.40 (0.18)
million
Number of shares (outstanding ?) shares 566.3 622.5 622.5 622.5 622.5
million
Trading volume (daily average) shares 2.6 3.1 5.1 4.6 4.1

DThe statement of TSR is made in accordance with the calculation method as approved at the AGM 2021 as part of the renumeration system for
the Executive Board. The TSR performance is used in the context of the long-term variable renumeration as a measure for how the value of a
share commitment (price change and dividends) develops over a period of time. The TSR performance is calculated per fiscal year based on the
share price development plus dividends distributed during the fiscal year. The start value and the end value are based on the average share
price, calculated as arithmetc mean of the closing prices during the last 30 trading days before the start or before the end of the fiscal year.

2 Weighted average

Stock price performance

In fiscal year 2020/2021 thyssenkrupp’s stock clearly outperformed the market as a whole, based
on the DAX and MDAX indices. Key influences were the significant improvement in the group’s
financial position following completion of the elevator transaction in July 2020, the positive market
sentiment in connection with a stand-alone solution for the steel business and valuation expectations
relating to the future development of the water electrolysis business (alkaline water electrolysis to
produce hydrogen). During the fiscal year, the stock price benefited from the improvement in
operating performance compared with the prior year and progress with the transformation of the
group.

From the second half of the fiscal year, the stock price’s momentum was held back by the
disappointing development of Steel Europe and by the group’s free cash flow, which improved but
nevertheless remained negative. However, the stock price more than doubled over the fiscal year as
a whole.
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thyssenkrupp stock reached a fiscal year high of €11.95 on March 8, 2021. As of September 30,
2021 the stock stood at €9.18, up 113% from a year earlier; the DAX and MDAX improved by 20%
and 27% respectively in the course of the fiscal year.

PERFORMANCE OF THYSSENKRUPP STOCK RELATIVE TO DAX AND MDAX
Indexed, fiscal year 2020/2021
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Shareholder structure
The capital stock of thyssenkrupp AG amounts to €1,593,681,256.96 and is divided into
622,531,741 no-par bearer shares. Each share grants one vote at the Annual General Meeting.

The biggest shareholder in thyssenkrupp AG is the Alfried Krupp von Bohlen und Halbach Foundation,
Essen. The remaining shares are widely held internationally with focal points in North America and
the UK. thyssenkrupp AG holds no treasury shares. The free float generally taken into account in the
weighting of thyssenkrupp’s stock in stock market indices accounts for around 79% of the capital
stock. The share held by the Krupp Foundation is not included in the free float.

thyssenkrupp maintains an intensive dialogue with shareholders and potential investors through a
large number of events and investor relations activities. In the past fiscal year, the dialogue with
investors focused on implementation of the transformation, the improvement in the group’s operating
performance, growth prospects for the water electrolysis business and the future strategic
development of the steel business. Further issues which are becoming increasingly important are
climate and environmental protection, social responsibility and governance. As in the previous year,
the Chair of the Supervisory Board was also involved in the dialog with investors, especially on
governance issues.

Dividend

No dividend proposal for the 2020/2021 fiscal year will be presented for resolution at the Annual
General Meeting on February 4, 2022. A resolution on profit appropriation is not required at the 2022
Annual General Meeting, as the parent-company financial statements of thyssenkrupp AG show an
unappropriated loss.
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Preliminary remarks

Combined management report

This management report combines the management report on the thyssenkrupp group and the
management report on thyssenkrupp AG. In it we report on the course of business including business
performance as well as the position and the expected development of the group and of
thyssenkrupp AG. The information on thyssenkrupp AG is presented in a separate section of the
report on the economic position with disclosures in accordance with HGB. The German Accounting
Standard 20 (GAS 20) “Group Management Report” was applied. On the basis of the integrated
reporting system which has been used for several years, the combined non-financial statement
pursuant to § 289b HGB are included in the combined management report. An overview chart can
be found in the section “Overview of non-financial disclosures”.

This report follows thyssenkrupp’s internal management model.

As part of the concretization of the realignment, since October 1, 2020 certain businesses for which
the company is considering other ownership structures in the short to medium term have been
combined to form the new stand-alone Multi Tracks segment and managed by a dedicated segment
board in the sense of active investment management. The above-mentioned other ownership
structures could involve, for example, the complete or partial sale or also the continuation of the
business together with one or more external partners. In this connection, the following businesses
were assigned organizationally to the new Multi Tracks segment at the beginning of the 2020/2021
fiscal year: plant engineering, i.e. the chemical plant, cement plant and mining equipment
businesses, the stainless steel business (stainless steel plant in Terni, Italy (AST) including the
associated sales organization) and the infrastructure business from the Materials Services segment,
Automation Engineering (System Engineering Powertrain Solutions and Battery Solutions) as well as
Springs & Stabilizers from the Automotive Technology segment and Heavy Plate from the Steel
Europe segment. The disposal process initiated in the 2020/2021 fiscal year for the plant
engineering activities of the mining, infrastructure and the stainless steel businesses in the Multi
Tracks segment met the criteria for presentation as disposal groups in accordance with IFRS 5 for
the first time in the 4th quarter of the 2020/2021 fiscal year. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities
attributable to these activities have to be disclosed separately for the first time in the statement of
financial position as of September 30, 2021.

The Elevator investment included in the “Reconciliation” reporting line under Special Units until the
end of fiscal 2019/2020 has also been assigned to the new Multi Tracks segment since October 1,
2020. Furthermore, until completion of the sale at the end of August 2021, this also applied to
thyssenkrupp Carbon Components, which was included in the “Reconciliation” reporting line under
Special Services until the end of fiscal 2019/2020.

Presentation and disclosure of the prior-year periods have been adjusted in line with the
aforementioned changes.
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With effect from October 1, 2020, the definition of adjusted EBIT was adjusted to include a narrower
definition of special items, according to which earnings are adjusted only for restructuring expenses,
impairment losses/reversals, and disposal gains or losses. Here, too, the presentation of the prior-
year periods has been adjusted accordingly.

In late February 2020 thyssenkrupp signed an agreement on the sale of its Elevator Technology
business with a bidder consortium led by Advent International and Cinven. After all the responsible
authorities had approved the sale, the closing of the transaction together with the deconsolidation of
Elevator Technology took place on July 31, 2020. The transaction met the criteria for presentation
as a discontinued operation under IFRS 5. It encompassed Elevator Technology and individual units
from Corporate Headquarters. In accordance with IFRS 5, the presentation of the discontinued
elevator operations had been adjusted for the prior-year periods and all expense and income are
reported separately in the statement of income and all cash flows are reported separately in the
statement of cash flows. In addition, subsequent expenses and income and cash flows directly
related to the sale of the elevator activities must continue to be reported separately in the statement
of income and the statement of cash flows. As a result of the sale at the end of July 2020, it was no
longer necessary to report the assets and liabilities attributable to Elevator Technology separately in
the statement of financial position as of September 30, 2020.

Since the sale of the Elevator Technology business on July 31, 2020 thyssenkrupp has held an
investment which was part of the consideration received for the sale. For further details regarding

the equity investment see also Note 03 (Discontinued operations) and Note 24 (Segment reporting).

thyssenkrupp AG and its subsidiaries are referred to in this management report as a “group”. The
group comprises the entities included in the legal scope of consolidation.

The links are not part of the management report unless otherwise stated.
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Fundamental information
about the group

Profile and organizational structure

Value proposition

thyssenkrupp is an international group of companies with largely independent industrial and
technology businesses. We use our broad technological expertise to develop high-quality products
and high-performance processes and services. Under a strong umbrella brand we want to make an
important contribution to a better, more livable and more sustainable future with our products and
services. Our brand promise and the high standards we set ourselves are reflected in our claim
“engineering.tomorrow.together.” Together with our customers we want to use our technologies and
innovations to develop cost-effective and resource-friendly solutions to the challenges of the future.
Our aim is to promote efficient use of resources and produce consumer and capital goods in a more
eco-friendly way. Diversity and global reach define thyssenkrupp. We want to combine performance
culture with entrepreneurial and social responsibility.

The high standards we set ourselves and our shared values are documented in our mission statement,
which can be found on our website.

Organizational and management structure

As part of the ongoing transformation of our group of companies, since October 1, 2020 our business
activities have been bundled in six segments: Materials Services, Industrial Components, Automotive
Technology, Steel Europe, Marine Systems, and Multi Tracks — a new, independent segment in which
we bundle businesses for which thyssenkrupp is considering a different ownership structure in the
short- to mid-term. Details on this can be found in “Preliminary remarks” and in the section below
headed “Strategy”.

The segments are generally divided into business units and operating units. The Marine Systems
segment and the Bearings and Forged Technologies businesses combined in the Industrial
Components segment are managed as business units directly by thyssenkrupp AG. As of September
30, 2021, 335 companies and 22 investments accounted for by the equity method are included in
the consolidated financial statements; overall we consolidate companies from 56 countries.

Four regional platforms provide services required by the operating businesses in the various regions.
Details on this can be found under “Corporate Headquarters” in the section “Report on the economic
position”. Moreover, effective October 1, 2020 our service units were combined in two companies,
thyssenkrupp Services GmbH and thyssenkrupp Information Management GmbH, to provide cross-
cutting services to the businesses and Corporate Headquarters.
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Corporate Headquarters

thyssenkrupp AG

Materials

Services

Sales
€12,315 million

Adjusted EBIT
€587 million

= Global materials distributor

= Customer-specific processing, ware-

housing and logistics services

= Intelligent solutions for more sustain-

able, digital supply chains

Sales
€8,932 million

Adjusted EBIT
€116 million

= Production of flat carbon steel for the

automotive industry and many other
sectors

- Establishing climate-neutral steel

production as part of the tkH2Steel
transformation project

Segments

Industrial

Components

Sales
€2,512 million

Adjusted EBIT
€322 million

= Manufacture of slewing rings,

antifriction bearings and seamless
rolled rings for wind energy and
various industrial applications
(Bearings) !

= Manufacture of forged compo-

nents and system solutions for the
resource, construction and mobility
sectors (Forged Technologies)?

Sales
€2,022 million

Adjusted EBIT
€26 million

= System provider in submarine and

surface vessel construction and in
maritime electronics and security
technology

Automotive

Technology

Sales
€4,522 million

Adjusted EBIT
€264 million

* Volume supplier of chassis and

powertrain components

* Assembly and logistics partner

+ Supplier of body assembly lines and

volume producer of lightweight body
parts

Sales
€5,651 million

Adjusted EBIT
€(298) million

+ Plant construction, including for

the chemical, cement and mining
industries?

- Production of stainless steel?

+ Supplier of powertrain and battery

production lines and manufacturer
of springs and stabilizers for the
automotive industry

+ Supplier of technology for highly

efficient water electrolysis plants

'Managed separately by thyssenkrupp AG as a business unit
2 See also preliminary remarks

Our realignment as a group of companies was an important step towards a more decentralized
organization operating under the strong umbrella brand thyssenkrupp. Our goal is to give the
businesses the freedom to focus as much as possible on their customers and markets and thus offer
a convincing price/performance ratio for their products and services. We want to foster a strong
entrepreneurial climate that speeds up decision-making, increases efficiency, and puts the customer
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first. The individual segments in the thyssenkrupp group have been given greater entrepreneurial
freedom and most responsibility. The aim is to be even closer to the market and our customers.
Corporate Headquarters is increasingly concentrating on portfolio management, governance tasks,
management development and the allocation of investment funds. As the portfolio continues to
develop and focuses more on performance, the aim is to create a lean and efficient Corporate
Headquarters; complexity is to be further reduced, especially in administration, and operational
management decisions in particular are to be further decentralized. We continued to make progress
with this in the past fiscal year. We have further simplified Corporate Headquarters and dissolved the
previous structure of the corporate functions: since February 1, 2021 our Corporate Headquarters

have been managed via three task-based areas, which basically correspond to our three action areas:

portfolio, performance and people. The management level directly below the Executive Board has
therefore been reduced from ten corporate functions to three corporate centers.

Responsibility for the strategic management of the group remains with thyssenkrupp AG. To allow
management of the company in close consultation with the businesses, an Executive Committee has
been established as a steering body. Alongside the Executive Board of thyssenkrupp AG, its members

are the CEOs of the segments, the heads of the corporate centers, and a representative of the regions.

This enables decisions made by the Executive Board to be more closely oriented to markets and
customers as well as technologies, products and business-specific developments.

The administrative units of Corporate and the regions are presented as Corporate Headquarters.
Details on this can be found under “Corporate Headquarters” in the section “Report on the economic
position”. The service units and special units have been combined with consolidation items and are
presented separately in the reporting line “Reconciliation”.

Strategy

Strategic realignment

thyssenkrupp is in the midst of the corporate transformation adopted in May 2019, which was further
concretized in May 2020. The aim is to realign thyssenkrupp as a sustainable and high-performing
group of companies with a lean management model and clearly structured portfolio. The framework
for this comprises our brand and our values.

The transformation of thyssenkrupp is following a clear concept. We are aligning our portfolio
stepwise, based on the development potential of the individual businesses (“Focus”). In the first step,
the group will therefore become smaller but more competitive. In parallel, we want to continuously
raise the profitability of all businesses (“Improve”) so that we can grow profitably again on from our
efficient new basis (“Scale”). Our objective in this process is not simply to make a significant
contribution to reducing CO, and align our activities systematically to sustainability criteria; through
our products and technologies, we also want to participate in emerging growth opportunities, for
example, in the areas of renewable energy, hydrogen and e-mobility.
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In our transformation process, we are guided at all times by our three action areas: performance,
portfolio and people. The aim is to create conditions that enable the individual businesses to optimize
their performance and achieve leading market positions that are sustainable both economically and
in terms of climate protection.

= Performance
The overarching goal is to boost the performance and competitiveness of all our businesses. All
businesses are expected to strive to be among the best in their respective sectors. Each unit has
been set an individual profitability target, based on benchmark analysis. In addition, all businesses
must earn at least their cost of capital. Plans on how to achieve these targets are worked out with
all businesses and specific and realistic measures are defined. These measures are reviewed,
adjusted where necessary and monitored in regular dialogue between the holding company and
relevant decentralized unit. The businesses’ management teams bear full responsibility for the
results.
At the start of the transformation process, extensive performance and restructuring measures were
introduced to bring about a significant improvement in adjusted EBIT and FCF before M&A; these
are currently being implemented or have already been completed. For details of the status in
individual segments, please refer to the relevant sections in the report on the economic position.
In connection with the transformation of the group, we have identified scope to cut more than
12,000 jobs by 2023/2024. In the past two fiscal years, 7,800 of these jobs have already been
cut.
As part of the performance action area, we are also focusing more strongly on performance culture
throughout the group and driving forward the continuous enhancement of our competitiveness.
This also involves continuously reviewing and revising our key performance indicators and the
logic behind them as well as the associated compensation systems. More details can be found in
the section “Employees”.

= Portfolio

thyssenkrupp has a clear goal: we want a successful future for all our businesses. Therefore, we
examine and evaluate the development potential of the individual businesses to find the
constellation that offers the best future prospects for these units from the perspective of all
stakeholders. The principal criteria are their market attractiveness, their technology and cost
position and the future potential to create value. In this, achieving or maintaining a sustainable
competitive position in the individual businesses is more important than their ownership structure.
Against this background, thyssenkrupp’s portfolio has been divided as follows:
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PORTFOLIO - GROUP OF COMPANIES

Corporate Headquarters

thyssenkrupp AG
Segments
Materials Industrial Automotive Steel Marine Multi
Services Components Technology Europe Systems Tracks

5 MIN® @ INFY @

e @
[ ]

logies)

(Bearings)

FT

TKE™

Further development
within the group

Further develop-
ment within the
group; Alliances
or development

Further implemen-
tation of the Steel
Strategy 20-30;
carve-out targeted

Parallel pursuit of
stand-alone paths,
consolidation
options and

Partnerships or
development paths
outside the group

partnerships
conceivable

partnerships

@ = Disposals where signing or sale have been completed and shutdowns

' Heavy Plate (Grobblech) — closed on September 30, 2021

2 Acciai Speciali Terni (including the associated sales organization) — signing for the sale to the Arvedi Group completed in September 2021

3 Mining Technologies — signing for the sale to FLSmidth completed in July 2021

9 Infrastructure — signing for the sale to FMC Beteiligungs KG completed in August 2021

9 Carbon Components — sold to Action Composites in August 2021

9 Uhde Chlorine Engineers (joint venture with Industrie De Nora; reported together with Uhde within the Chemical & Process Technologies business
unit until September 30, 2021)

 Automation Engineering (formerly System Engineering Powertrain/Powertrain Solutions und Battery Solutions)

8 Springs & Stabilizers

9 Uhde (reported together with UCE within the Chemical & Process Technologies business unit until September 30, 2021)

10 Cement Technologies

ITK investment in Elevator

On the basis of their market position and competitive strength, we still see good development
potential for Materials Services and Industrial Components. We intend to continue to develop these
businesses on our own in the future. We will also keep the Automotive Technology business within
the group. In line with the industry trend for collaboration, alliances and development partnerships
are also conceivable on a selective basis.

Having ended the talks on the sale of the steel division to Liberty Steel in February 2021,
thyssenkrupp will be continuing to drive forward the steel business on its own. Thanks to the ongoing
restructuring process and additional performance measures, we made progress in strengthening the
competitiveness of this business in the past fiscal year. At the same time, we regard a stand-alone
solution as advantageous for the steel business because we are convinced that a dedicated steel
company has better chances of remaining viable in the long term. Therefore, we are examining
whether and if so, how, this could be achieved. In parallel with this, we are continuing to implement
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the Steel Strategy 20-30 because we want to place the steel business in a position of strength in
order to press ahead with the green transformation.

At Marine Systems, both the cost-cutting and performance measures and the latest order intake
figures show a positive trend. In view of the specific market and sector situation, alongside further
measures to enhance the performance of this business for stand-alone development, we are also
examining possible partnerships and consolidation options to give the German and European
shipyard industry as a whole a stronger international position.

Businesses where thyssenkrupp alone is not the best owner, for various reasons, were assigned to
the Multi Tracks segment in the past fiscal year and are subject to active investment management.
In the past fiscal year, we achieved some major milestones in the focusing of our portfolio with the
announcement of plans to sell individual activities, some of which have already been completed, and
the closure of the heavy plate business. When completed, the sale of Mining Technologies,
Infrastructure and stainless steel business, in particular, should have a positive impact on our key
financial indicators. The water electrolysis technologies supplied by Uhde Chlorine Engineers (UCE)
provide a very good basis for us to benefit from the strong demand for production processes for
green hydrogen. We want to use this upfront advantage. Therefore, we are examining how this field
can best be driven forward. That includes exploring the option of an initial public offering (IPQ), in
other words, a stock market listing, to make the real value of this business visible and fund further
growth. Further details can be found in “Preliminary remarks” and the “Multi Tracks” section of the
report on the economic position.

= People

Alongside the structural changes, the transformation of the company does not simply require more
decentralized organizational structures; it also makes new demands on how we work, requiring a
continuous alignment of the key strategic areas of our HR work. Our aspiration is to be a fair and
attractive employer. We actively support managers and staff in the transformation and, above all,
with a view to growth topics by offering a wide range of continuing professional development
courses. We offer HR measures tailored to each company to support the necessary restructuring
activities. At the same time, we are working on HR topics relating to the future of thyssenkrupp.
We see the constantly changing workplace as an opportunity and are modernizing collaboration,
processes and working models in alignment with our business models, and most recently, also in
connection with the introduction of hybrid working models. We are positioning thyssenkrupp with
the relevant target groups and platforms as an attractive technology employer. Internally we make
use of employee retention measures, which also heighten our strong culture. A key focus here is
identifying, networking and retaining technology and engineering staff. The foundations for all this
are our shared values: openness and mutual respect. We aim for continuous improvement and,
with a view to future challenges, we want to make our organization more agile and more adaptable.
We are continuing to reduce hierarchies and foster professional strengths and personal initiative.
Our goal is to bundle our strengths to increase efficiency in the long term. The “lean & agile”
method is helping us achieve this. More details can be found in the sections “Profile and
Organization” and “Employees”.
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Management of the group

The indicators used throughout the group for profitability, value added and liquidity form the basis
for operational and strategic management decisions at thyssenkrupp. We use them to set targets,
measure performance and determine variable components of management compensation — in
addition to other factors. For us, the most important financial indicators — the key performance
indicators in accordance with GAS 20 — are adjusted earnings before interest and taxes (adjusted
EBIT), net income/(loss), thyssenkrupp Value Added (tkVA) and free cash flow before M&A (FCF
before M&A).

As part of the strategy process the Executive Board defines long-term targets, also for the businesses.
These form the framework for the short- and medium-term financial targets and also for the budget
and medium-term plans, which are prepared by all units.

THYSSENKRUPP — KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Profitability Value added Liquidity

Operating earnings EBIT EBIT Operating cash flow

+/— operational +/-non operational +/— cost of capital +/— cash flows from
components of financial components of statement investing activities
income of income

EBIT Net income/(-loss) tkVA Free cash flow

+/— special items +/— cash inflows/ outflows

from material M&A
transactions

Adjusted EBIT Free cash flow before
M&A

Adjusted EBIT

EBIT provides information on the profitability of a unit. It contains all elements of the income
statement relating to operating performance. These include items of financial income/expense that
can be characterized as operational, including income and expense from investments where there is
a long-term intention to hold the assets. Following the divestment of Elevator Technology, the
thyssenkrupp group maintained an investment in the company. This investment has no strategic or
operational connection to the group’s continuing operations. Its earnings are therefore by definition
not part of financial income/expense from operations and so are not included in EBIT. Adjusted EBIT
is EBIT adjusted for special items, i.e., restructuring expenses, impairment losses, impairment
reversals and disposal gains and losses. It is more suitable than EBIT for comparing operating
performance over several periods.
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The adjusted EBIT of the group and the segments and the special items are described in detail in the
“Group review” and “Segment review” sections of this management report. Please also refer to the
reconciliation in the segment reporting (Note 24).

Net income/(loss)

Net income is the profit generated in the fiscal year. It is calculated as a positive balance of all income
and expenses. Unlike EBIT, the calculation includes non-operating items, e.g., interest and taxes.
Net income therefore provides information on the group’s earning power. Negative net income is
referred to as a net loss.

Net income/(loss) is explained in detail in the section “Results of operations and financial position”
in this management report.

tkVA

tkVA is the value created in a reporting year. This indicator enables us to compare the financial
performance of businesses with different capital intensity. tkVA is calculated as EBIT minus the cost
of capital employed in the operating business. Capital employed mainly comprises fixed assets,
inventories and receivables. Deducted from this are certain non-interest-bearing liability items such
as trade accounts payable. To obtain the cost of capital, capital employed is multiplied by the
weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which includes weighted equity and debt and the interest
rate for pension provisions.

Information on tkVA in the reporting year can also be found in the “Group review” section of this
management report.

FCF before M&A

FCF before M&A permits a liquidity-based assessment of performance in a period by measuring cash
flows from operating activities excluding income and expenditures from material portfolio measures.
It is measured as operating cash flow less cash flows from investing activities excluding cash inflows
or outflows from material M&A transactions. This too links more directly to operating activities and
facilitates comparability in multi-period analyses.

A reconciliation and details on the development of FCF before M&A are provided in the analysis of

the statement of cash flows in the “Results of operations and financial position” section of this
management report.
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Targets

Financial targets

Our aim is to reorganize thyssenkrupp as a high-performing and sustainable group of companies
with a lean management model and clearly structured portfolio. Using systematic performance
management, we want to increase the economic capability of our businesses. We want them to be
among the best in their respective sectors and therefore generate positive earnings and cash flow
contributions for the group.

Our goal is for thyssenkrupp to sustainably generate positive free cash flow before M&A and create
value, not least so that in the future our shareholders can participate in the company’s success again
through dividends. We are working intensively to raise the profitability of our businesses so that it is
at least in line with the competitive level and above the cost of capital. As a result, our businesses
should also be able to make more efficient use of growth opportunities. The management teams of
the businesses bear full entrepreneurial responsibility. Capital allocation within the group is based
on expected value contribution and business-specific requirements. All targets have to be
consistently backed up by concrete action plans.

More information on our key performance indicators can be found in “Management of the group” in
this section of the report; details on the forecast for the current fiscal year are provided in the forecast
report.

Sustainability and Indirect Financial Targets

Sustainability is a core component of thyssenkrupp’s mission statement and an integral part of our
corporate strategy. Our aim is to offer innovative products, technologies and services worldwide that
contribute to the sustainable success of our customers. Strategic sustainability management is
coordinated by the Technology, Innovation & Sustainability department and the Chairwoman of the
Executive Board bears responsibility for sustainability. Together with the group functions, service
lines and segments, stakeholder requirements are continuously identified and targets and measures
are derived to improve our performance. Sustainability activities at thyssenkrupp are governed by
the Sustainability Committee, which consists of the Executive Board of the group, the CEOs of the
segments and the heads of the corporate centers. The Sustainability Committee decides on the
ongoing development of existing measures and the implementation of innovative measures. It also
takes decisions on the Indirect Financial Targets (IFTs). The responsibility for the implementation lies
with the group functions, service lines and segments, which regularly report on progress.

Detailed information on our sustainability activities in the areas of climate, energy and environment,
purchasing, employees, occupational health and safety, social responsibility and compliance can be
found in the relevant sections of the Annual Report and on our website. In addition, in the reporting
period thyssenkrupp launched “Sustainability Way Forward”, an interdisciplinary sustainability
project that focuses on various sub-projects such as achieving the climate targets and the
requirements of the EU taxonomy and the German Act on Corporate Due Diligence in Supply Chains.
Future measures are designed and realized in close consultation with the segments and businesses
at thyssenkrupp that are responsible for their operational implementation. Another area of focus is
the ongoing development of our employees, where we are providing support in connection with the
realignment of our group of companies and the digital transformation of the workplace.
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The Sustainability Committee has set Indirect Financial Targets in the areas of climate, energy and
environment, technology and innovation, employees, and purchasing. The annual targets are defined
in consultation with the segments, which are responsible for achieving the targets and drive forward
their implementation together with the businesses. In the 2020/2021 fiscal year, for the first time,
achievement of these targets no longer affects the amount of the one-year variable compensation
(Short-Term Incentive) of the thyssenkrupp Executive Board and the CEQs of the segments via the
sustainability multiplier. Instead, starting in the 2020/2021 fiscal year, the sustainability activities of
relevance for compensation will gradually be integrated into the long-term compensation of the
Executive Board through the IFTs. This has already been implemented for the proportion of women
in leadership positions and the accident frequency rate (for further details, please refer to the
compensation report). To reflect our climate targets, in fiscal 2021/2022, emissions intensity
excluding the steel business and, with reference to the steel business, the volume of climate-neutral
steel produced will be integrated into long-term compensation. All established IFTs are being
continued with the aim of continuous improvement and are constantly being adjusted and extended
in parallel with our ongoing strategic development.

The energy efficiency target was significantly exceeded in fiscal year 2020/2021. The R&D ratio was
comparatively lower because R&D expenses were down whereas sales increased. The proportion of
women in management positions was continuously increased and met the target. Compared with the
adjusted prior-year figure of 2.9, the accident frequency rate improved. The number of sustainability
audits performed exceeded the planned target. With effect from the reporting year, ISO 50001
certification of energy management of relevant activities and ISO 14001 certification of
environmental management are no longer included in the IFTs because the goal of 100% certification
was achieved as planned in the 2019/2020 fiscal year. We still report on our groupwide energy and
environmental management in the “Climate, energy and environment” section.

OVERVIEW OF INDIRECT FINANCIAL TARGETS

Status Status

Group Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change Section
Annual energy efficiency gains of 80 GWh in 2020/2021 GWh 215 325 — Climate, energy, environment
Adjusted R&D intensity? of around 3.0% % 3.4 2.6 — Technology and Innovation
Increase the proportion of women in management positions by at
least 1% per year to 16% by 2024/2025 % 11.2 12.2 +1%-pts. Employees

Accidents per
Reduce the accident frequency rate by at least 0.1 per year to 2.5 million hours
by 2023/2024 worked 2.9 2.6 (10)% Employees
60 supplier sustainability audits each year # 86 69 (20)% Purchasing

D From 2020/2021 impairment losses on capitalized development costs are no longer included in the calculation of R&D intensity. The prior-year
figure was adjusted accordingly from 4.0% to 3.4%.

The goal for the current fiscal year 2021/2022 is to improve energy efficiency by at least 110 GWh.
Adjusted R&D intensity shall be around 3.0% in the 2021 /2022 fiscal year, while accident frequency
shall improve by 0.1 p.a. to 2.5 by fiscal year 2023/2024. Across the entire thyssenkrupp group,
compared with 2019/2020, we aim to increase the proportion of women in leadership positions to
13% in the present fiscal year and to 16% by fiscal year 2024 /2025. Sustainability audits remain a
key focus in the coming reporting year and a new target of at least 69 audits has been set. From the
present fiscal year, the emissions intensity excluding steel activities is established as a new IFT
(annual target: reduce CO, emissions by 1t CO, per million € sales).
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Report on the economic position

Macro and sector environment

The global economic recovery is continuing — risks have increased
considerably

So far in 2021 the global economy has continued to recover from last year’s pandemic-driven
downturn. However, the present situation is hampered, in particular, by the delta variant of the
coronavirus, which has led to a fourth wave of the pandemic and renewed restrictions in many
countries, although these are likely to be less extensive than last year due to higher vaccination rates.
At the same time, the global economy is being held back by material and capacity bottlenecks, which
are proving more extensive and will probably last longer than originally anticipated and hold back
industrial production. This has clouded the outlook for growth, especially in the fourth quarter of
2021.

While global GDP contracted by 3.6% year-on-year in 2020, significant growth of 5.4% is forecast
for 2021. Depending on how the pandemic develops and the availability of production inputs, global
output could increase by 4.5% in 2022. In the industrialized nations, growth is expected to be
relatively high at 5.1% in 2021. At present, growth of 4% is forecast for 2022. In the emerging
markets, economic output is expected to rise by 5.7% year-on-year in 2021 and, if the recovery
continues, a growth rate of 4.8% could be achieved in 2022.

Global economic growth forecasts are, however, very uncertain due to the lack of clarity about the
development of the coronavirus pandemic, especially the development of vaccination rates, new
virus mutations and renewed lockdowns. In addition, there are numerous geopolitical uncertainties.
It is still unclear what course will be taken by the current trade conflicts and many global crises such
as Afghanistan. Other factors are the ongoing bottlenecks in the supply of industrial inputs, which
hold back growth even more. The recurrent floods and natural catastrophes resulting from climate
change are also a significant growth risk. Further risk factors are a sharper slowdown in the Chinese
economy in the mid-term and a possible further increase in China’s bid for self-sufficiency. There are
also risks in the financial area in general due to mushrooming debt in recent years in numerous
industrialized countries and also many emerging economies. This situation could be exacerbated
through the numerous government support measures to mitigate the consequences of the pandemic.
Other risks come from the significant rise in energy, material and commaodity costs and the related
fears of inflation, especially if central banks are slow to react, and the uncertainty caused by volatile
exchange rates.

35

@5.4%

The global economy is expected to
grow by 5.4% in 2021 and 4.5% in
2022.



@OWME

thyssenkrupp annual report 2020/2021
2 Combined management report | Report on the economic position

The euro-zone economy recently posted significant growth. In the 2nd quarter of 2021, GDP
increased by 2.2% year-on-year, following a drop of 0.3% in the first quarter. The sentiment
indicators for the 3rd quarter suggest that growth could be slightly higher than in the 2nd quarter.
However, the positive sentiment has been dampened perceptibly by the prospect of prolonged supply
chain problems and the fourth wave of the pandemic triggered by the delta variant in many countries.
In view of this, economic output is now only expected to grow slightly in the 4th quarter. Overall,
economic output in the euro zone will rise by 4.8% in 2021. For the coming year, growth of 4.4% is
expected.

German GDP increased by 1.6% quarter-on-quarter in the 2nd quarter of 2021, which was dominated
by the easing of restrictions following the lockdown, whereas in the 1st quarter it declined by 2%
compared with the prior quarter. However, the less positive sentiment reflected in key leading
indicators now suggests that the strong recovery could be coming to an end. The 3rd quarter is still
likely to be quite good, but looking ahead to the 4th quarter of 2021 there are mounting downside
risks. Moreover, it is becoming clear that the economy is being held back by a mixture of rising Covid
infections and pronounced supply bottlenecks. Overall, economic output is expected to rise by 2.8%
in 2021. Given the relatively solid global economic momentum, we are forecasting a growth rate of
4.6% for Germany in 2022.

Economic output in the USA increased by 1.6% quarter-on-quarter in the 2nd quarter of 2021,
following growth of 1.5% in the 1st quarter. Economic activity recently lost some momentum. In
industry, stronger growth is prevented by bottlenecks in the supply of inputs. Moreover, private
consumption, which is an important factor, has recently weakened. This was due to declining fiscal
impetus and the already advanced economic recovery. Nevertheless, the rapid recovery of the labor
market is supporting the income of private households, so the end of the pandemic-driven state
transfer payments can be at least partly offset. In all, the outlook for consumer spending therefore
remains positive. Overall, the US economy is expected to grow by 5.7% in 2021 and by 4.4% in 2022.

Economic momentum in China slowed significantly in the first half of 2021. In the 1st quarter of 2021
GDP rose by 18.3% year-on-year and in the 2nd quarter the rise was 7.9%. Moderate growth by
Chinese standards is also anticipated for the upcoming quarters. New lockdowns to contain the
pandemic had a substantial impact on the service sector in the summer. This is shown by the decline
in the official non-manufacturing purchasing managers’ index. The corresponding indices for
manufacturing industry have also dropped. This is compounded by problems in the real estate sector,
the less expansionary monetary and fiscal policy and the country’s increasing bid for self-sufficiency.
Even so, GDP is expected to grow by 8% in 2021. In 2022, however, growth is expected to be just
5.2%.
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The massive rise in coronavirus infections and measures to contain the pandemic had an enormous
impact on India’s economy in the 2nd quarter of 2021. Although GDP was 20.1% higher than in the
prior-year period, this mainly reflects the economic weakness in the spring of the last year and the
subsequent recovery. Quarter-on-quarter, the economy probably contracted by around 6%. Close-
contact services and the construction sector were worst affected, while manufacturing industry held
up comparatively well. Current price indicators indicate that so far there has been a significant
economic upturn in the 3rd quarter. All in all, the Indian economy will grow by 7.7% in 2021. Slightly
lower growth of 6.5% is likely in 2022.

The Brazilian economy contracted by 0.1% quarter-on-quarter in the 2nd quarter of 2021. This was
due to the second wave of the coronavirus pandemic, which peaked in April, resulting in the need for
further regional lockdowns. Positive factors include the fact that consumer sentiment among the
population has since improved thanks to government transfer payments, so private consumption did
not contract. At the same time, the rise in state spending prevented a sharper downturn in the 2nd
quarter. Finally, a strong positive contribution came from foreign trade. The present economic
indicators point to an improvement in the economic outlook in the 3rd quarter. Overall, we expect the
Brazilian economy to grow by 5.2% this year and 2.8% next year.

The Russian economy grew by 10.3% year-on-year in the 2nd quarter of 2021, so economic
momentum accelerated compared to the first three months of the year. At this level, GDP is now
officially back at the pre-crisis level of year-end 2019. However, the present economic indicators
point to slower growth in the second half of the year. For example, the purchasing managers’ index
for the manufacturing sector recently dropped again, and is below the recessionary threshold of 50
points for the third consecutive month. Overall, the Russian economy is expected to grow by 4.2%
this year, with further growth of 3% in 2022.
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Industrial growth hampered by bottlenecks in production inputs

Automotive — Global automotive production declined considerably in 2020. Weeks of production
stoppages due to economic uncertainty and trade restrictions caused by general lockdowns in the
wake of the pandemic imposed limits on annual output. As a result, global output was about 16%
lower than in the prior year.

For 2021, we initially predicted a significant recovery in sales and production of cars and light trucks
worldwide. However, bottlenecks in the supply of semiconductors and raw materials from the end of
2020 and the related temporary production shutdowns and logistics challenges within global supply
chains have limited market growth in 2021 to around the weak prior-year level.

China, which is the world’s biggest automotive market, was the first country to be affected by the
coronavirus. However, it managed to restart production early on. As a result of the rapid recovery,
the reduction in output compared with 2019 was less than 5%. In 2021, production will probably be
around the same level as in the prior year.

In 2021, automotive production in Western Europe will not be able to offset the considerable
downturn caused by the coronavirus pandemic in 2020. Owing to the shortage of semiconductors,
production is still below the already weak 2020 level and therefore significantly short of the pre-crisis
level.

Despite rising demand, persistent supply bottlenecks prevented the originally anticipated rebound in
domestic production in Germany. Domestic output in 2021 will therefore remain below the weak level
of 2020 and probably only start to rise again in 2022.

North American automotive production will also remain around the 2020 level in 2021. Consequently,
offsetting the declines suffered in 2020 will not start before 2022.

Since the significant recovery in demand seen in 2021 could not be fully satisfied due to the
semiconductor shortage, all major markets could see recovery starting in 2022 — assuming that the
supply-side bottlenecks recede. However, in view of the repeated revision of forecasts during the
year and growing signs of further production restrictions in 2022, this assumption entails
considerable uncertainty. A sustained recovery cannot be expected before 2023.
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IMPORTANT SALES MARKETS

2020 20210 2022"
Vehicle production, million cars and light trucks?
World 72.9 72.9 80.5
Western Europe (incl. Germany) 10.0 9.6 11.6
Germany 3.7 3.3 4.3
North America (USA, Mexico, Canada) 13.0 13.0 15.2
USA 8.6 8.9 10.4
Mexico 3.0 3.0 3.5
Japan 7.7 7.4 7.9
China 23.3 23.0 24.3
India 3.2 3.9 4.2
Brazil 1.9 2.0 2.3
Machinery production, real, in % versus prior year
World (3.3) 13.3 4.4
Europe (11.9) 11.9 5.4
Germany (12.0) 10.0 5.0
USA (3.2) 10.5 2.6
Japan (8.3) 17.1 1.6
China 6.5 143 5.4
Construction output, real, in % versus prior year
Euro zone (6.6) 45 3.5
Germany 3.2 1.0 3.5
USA (1.0) 7.6 5.2
China 0.2 43 3.7
India (20.6) 23.9 4.3
Demand for steel, in % versus prior year
World 0.1 45 2.2
Germany (11.3) 10.0 13.3
EU(27) + Great Britain (11.2) 12.7 5.5
USA (18.0) 15.3 5.7
China 9.1 (1.0 0.0

D Forecast (August/September 2021)
2 Passenger cars and light commercial vehicles up to 6t (completely built up vehicles only; without so-called CKD units)
Sources: IHS Markit, Oxford Economics, wordsteel, national associations, own estimates

Machinery - Global machinery production will rise significantly by a good 13% year-on-year in 2021,
driven mainly by the strong recovery in demand for capital goods following easing of the pandemic-
induced lockdown restrictions. A positive — albeit lower — growth rate of around 4.5% is expected for
next year in connection with the continued global economic recovery. In China, the growth rate will
probably also be significantly above the prior-year level at around 14% in 2021 and is expected to
remain positive, although lower, at 5.4% in 2022. After an already weak year in 2020, output in the
US machinery sector is expected post a significant rise of 11% in 2021, driven mainly by more
dynamic capital spending. For 2022, we anticipate growth of 2.6%. European machinery production
will post a strong rise of around 12% this year and the recovery is expected to continue in 2022 with
growth coming in at around 5.4%.
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Up to August 2021, German machinery manufacturers recorded a strong price-adjusted rise in orders
of 32% compared with the prior year, with domestic and foreign orders growing at different rates:
domestic orders rose by 21% and foreign orders by 38%. The significant improvement in sector
momentum is also reflected in capacity utilization: in July, machinery capacity increased visibly to
88.7% and was therefore above the long-term average of 85.9%. This significant increase was due
to the strong upturn in order intake. In the first seven months of 2021, real output of machinery in
Germany increased by a good 7% year-on-year. Overall, German production is expected to be 10%
higher than in the prior year. A lower growth rate of 5% is expected for 2022. Risks affecting this
forecast arise from the possibility of continuing restrictions on production caused by the present
shortage of starting products.

Construction — Construction output in the euro zone will increase by 4.5% this year, with countries
that were hit particularly hard by the pandemic such as France and Spain reporting high double-digit
growth rates. In Germany, construction activity will be held back by lower demand from the public
sector, but thanks to the relatively good trend in housing and commercial construction, output could
still increase by about 1% this year. Downside pressure is coming from the present material
shortages and the resultant price rises. A sustained recovery in the construction sector in the euro
zone is anticipated in the remainder of the forecasting period. General factors driving the construction
sector are still intact, with demand for housing and office space remaining buoyant thanks to pent-
up consumer purchasing power and the fact that financing terms are still favorable. Moreover, most
planned public-sector investments will probably be realized.

In China, the construction sector will grow by a good 4% in 2021, with the ongoing trend to
urbanization continuing to support housing construction and civil engineering. Nevertheless, the
present problems in the construction sector mean there is a risk that this forecast may have to be
revised downward. Construction activity in the USA will be 7.6% higher this year than last year.
Reasons for the positive outlook are persistently low interest rates, public infrastructure spending
and the solid momentum in housing construction.

Steel — The international steel industry was severely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic in 2020.
Production stoppages, supply chain interruptions and a slump in demand across the board restricted
growth in demand for finished steel to 0.1% in calendar year 2020. The unprecedented 9.1% rise in
demand in China had a clear stabilizing effect. Without China, global demand for steel would have
contracted by 9.5%. This year too, the development of the global steel market has been affected to
a large extent by the pandemic and the related lockdowns. However, there were massive regional
differences in their extent. Overall the markets recovered from the previous year’s downturn and
global demand will probably rise by 4.5% in 2021. The economic measures introduced by China last
year, which led to significant growth contrary to the general trend, will probably lose their impact this
year and demand for steel is expected to drop by 1%. Significant growth is anticipated in some of
the other Asian markets. Following a sharp drop of 18% last year, demand in the USA is expected to
rebound by 15.3% this year. Growth of 17% is forecast for Turkey. In the EU, demand for finished
steel declined by 11.2% in 2020, partly due to the sharp downturn in the automotive industry. An
even more significant fall was prevented by fiscal incentives. The export-oriented German economy,
which is heavily dependent on the automotive industry, was particularly badly affected by this
negative trend. Last year the steel market contracted by 11.3%. The robustness of the construction
sector throughout the year had a stabilizing effect. The provisional forecast for this year is for growth
of 10%. Demand in the EU will probably increase by 12.7% to 158.7 million tonnes, bringing it back
to the 2019 level. Global infection rates, combined with progress with vaccinations, rising inflation,
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supply chain bottlenecks and the continuing extreme volatility of the commaodity markets constitute
high risk factors for the performance of the global steel market.

The EU market for flat carbon steel contracted by 12.1% year-on-year in 2020. At times, the
pandemic-related slump in demand was up to 40%. In the second half of the year, in particular, a
continuous upward trend was observed and this continued at the start of this year. In the first seven
months of 2021, demand for flat carbon steel was 17.3% higher than in the comparable prior-year
period. EU steel producers successively increased their market share to 82%, at least until the first
quarter of 2021. However, due to an exceptionally sharp rise in imports of flat steel from third
countries to nearly 2.2 million tonnes in April, EU producers’ share of the flat steel market dropped
to 72%. This significant rise in imports was mainly due to the terms of the protectionist measures in
the EU. These were introduced by the EU Commission in 2019 in response to a global rise in
protectionism, which it feared could divert international trade flows to the free EU market. The
measures include quotas for the import of steel products from third countries into the EU without
paying the 25% customs duty. The aim is to protect the EU market from rising imports. However,
special conditions permit selected third countries to utilize other countries’ unused import quotas in
the second quarter of the calendar year. Some countries made use of this, resulting in higher import
volumes in April 2021. The protectionist measures initially expired at the end of June 2021, when
their original term ended, but the EU Commission extended them for a further three years from July
1, 2021. As in the first period, the quotas are set to rise by 3% p.a. In this way, the protectionist
effect of the measures is continuously eroded, increasing the risk to EU steel producers of a further
loss of market share. Overall, however, the recovery in the steel processing sector and thus in the
flat steel sector is expected to continue in 2021, although momentum is expected to decline. Supply
chain bottlenecks, in particular, are holding back production in many sectors. In the light of this, the
German automotive association VDA has reduced its forecasts for some markets. It now only expects
German car production to rise by 3%.

Following the lockdowns in spring 2020, demand picked up faster than expected in some cases,
especially in the automotive and automotive supplier sectors. Many customers were keen to replenish
stocks, which had been scaled back considerably. A lack of supply from third countries increased the
demand momentum within the EU single market in the second half of 2020. Overall, demand clearly
exceeded supply, supporting the trend in spot market prices, which have more than doubled within
a year. As a result of the significant increase in imports since the 2nd quarter of 2021 and a slight
dip in demand in the summer months, when demand is traditionally lower, spot market prices have
stabilized at the high level that had been reached. On the raw material side, price trends have varied
greatly. The price of iron ore rose steadily from summer 2020 and registered record highs in May
2021. However, a drop in prices has been reported since July. By contrast, the price of coking coal
has been very volatile during the fiscal year and since May 2021 it has risen extremely sharply, by
more than 200%.
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The recovery in global demand for steel, which started this year, will probably continue in 2022.
However, momentum will be slightly lower, with growth at around 2.2%. Global supply bottlenecks,
overcapacities and trade barriers represent a high potential risk for the future trend. In China, demand
for steel is likely to stagnate in 2022. By contrast, a further rise in demand is predicted for Germany.
Here, growth is around 13.3%, significantly above the EU average of 5.5%. Demand in the USA is
forecast to rise by about the same extent as in the EU.

Summarized assessment by the Executive Board

thyssenkrupp is improving key financials and driving forward the
transformation into a strong group of companies

In the past fiscal year, thyssenkrupp significantly improved its key financial indicators and achieved
major milestones in its transformation to a high-performance and sustainable group of companies.
The signing on September 16, 2021 of an agreement on the sale of the stainless steel business
means that in the reporting period we made a decision on the sale or shutdown of five of the
businesses grouped in the Multi Tracks segment. Moreover, further progress was made on the review
of a stand-alone solution for Steel Europe. The main prerequisites are to clarify the legislative
framework for the green transformation and put the planning on a correspondingly secure basis, as
well as further progress with the implementation of the Steel Strategy 20-30. More information on
this is provided under “Strategy” in the section “Fundamental information about the group” and the
sections on Steel Europe and Multi Tracks in the report on the economic position.

As well as making progress with its strategy, thyssenkrupp generated a significant improvement in
adjusted EBIT compared with the weaker previous year that was impacted by the pandemic. In
addition to the impact of the market recovery (especially rising volumes and prices in our materials
businesses), support came from restructuring and portfolio effects, alongside lower depreciation and
amortization. The headcount in the group decreased by a total of 2323 in the fiscal year. The group’s
adjusted EBIT increased year-on-year in every quarter; therefore, we significantly exceeded the target
we had set at the start of the fiscal year. A key contribution to the improvement in earnings, especially
from the 2nd quarter, came from our materials businesses, which benefited from rising volumes and
higher prices compared with the previous year. The positive overall operating performance in the
continuing operations during the fiscal year was also reflected in the upward revision of our earnings
forecast, both in the interim report on the 1st quarter and again in the half-year report.
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The group’s net loss was €25 million, which was significantly lower than the profit reported the
previous year (€9.6 billion), which received a strong boost from gains from the sale of the Elevator
business. Without these effects, net income from continuing operations would have improved
significantly.

The group’s free cash flow before M&A was €(1.3) billion in the fiscal year, a significant improvement
compared with the pandemic-weakened prior-year figure (prior year: €(4.8) billion) and within the
last forecast range. The strong earnings improvement had a favorable effect but the price-related
increase in net working capital adversely affected this performance indicator. Other influences were
cash outflows for restructuring, the level of depreciation and amortization, which exceeded capital
expenditures, and payment profiles in the project business (especially Multi Tracks and Marine
Systems).

As a result, the group’s net financial assets were significantly lower than in the previous year at
€3.6 billion.

With cash and cash equivalents and undrawn committed credit lines totaling €10.5 billion
(September 30, 2021), thyssenkrupp has a very good liquidity position.

Details of our target achievement in the reporting year can be found in the “Forecast-actual
comparison”. More information on our business performance is included in the “Group review” and
“Segment review”. Details of our forecast for the current fiscal year and our opportunities and risks
are contained in the “Forecast, opportunity and risk report”.
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Key figures for the group versus the prior year are shown in the following table:

THYSSENKRUPP IN FIGURES

Full group Group - continuing operations?
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in% Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in%
Order intake million € 34,891 39,571 4,680 13 28,150 39,571 11,421 41
Net sales million € 35,443 34,015 (1,427) (4) 28,899 34,015 5,117 18
EBITDA million € 14,724 1,416 (13,309) (90) (1,079) 1,422 2,500 ++
EBIT? million € 10,475 451 (10,024) (96) (5,255) 457 5,712 ++
EBIT margin % 29.6 1.3 (28.2) (96) (18.2) 13 19.5 ++
Adjusted EBITV: 2 million € (1,039) 796 1,836 ++ (1,759) 796 2,555 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % (2.9 2.3 5.3 ++ (6.1) 2.3 8.4 ++
Income/(loss) before tax million € 10,112 95 (10,017) (99) (5,593) 101 5,694 ++
Net income/(loss) or earnings after tax million € 9,592 (25) (9,617) - (5,541) (19) 5,522 100
attributable to thyssenkrupp AG’s
shareholders million € 9,585 (115) (9,699) -- (5,547) (109) 5,439 98
Earnings per share (EPS) € 15.40 (0.18) (15.58) -- 8.91) (0.17) 8.74 98
Operating cash flows million € (3,326) 92 3,418 ++ (4,224) 94 4,319 ++
Cash flow for investments million € (2,352) (1,485) 867 37 (2,188) (1,485) 703 32
Cash flow from divestments million € 14,766 975 (13,791) (93) 14,783 975 (13,808) (93)
Free cash flow® million € 9,088 (418) (9,506) - 8,371 (416) (8,786) -
Free cash flow before M&A » million € (4,835) (1,273) 3,562 74 (5,515) (1,273) 4,241 77
Net financial assets (Sept. 30) million € (5,053) (3,586) 1,467 29
Total equity (Sept. 30) million € 10,174 10,845 671 7
Gearing (Sept. 30) % — — — —
ROCE % 59.8 3.4 (56.4) (94)
thyssenkrupp Value Added million € 9,073 (622) (9,695) -
Dividend per share € — — — —
Dividend payout million € — — — —
Employees (Sept. 30) 103,598 101,275 (2,323) 2)

b See preliminary remarks.
2 See reconciliation in segment reporting (Note 24).
9 See reconciliation in the analysis of the statement of cash flows.

“ Due to the strongly positive total equity and the reported net financial receivables, the significance of the gearing key ratio is of no relevance.
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THYSSENKRUPP IN FIGURES

Full group Group - continuing operations?
4th quarter 4th quarter 4th quarter 4th quarter
ended ended ended ended
Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in% Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 8,996 14,311 5,315 59 8,369 14,311 5,942 71
Net sales million € 7,951 9,441 1,489 19 7,258 9,441 2,182 30
EBITDA million € 14,669 410 (14,259) 97) (534) 398 933 ++
EBIT2 million € 11,540 167 (11,373) (99) (3,663) 156 3,819 ++
EBIT margin % 145.1 1.8 (143.4) (99) (50.5) 1.7 52.1 ++
Adjusted EBIT.2 million € (530) 232 763 ++ (601) 232 833 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % 6.7) 2.5 9.1 ++ (8.3) 25 10.7 ++
Income/(loss) before tax million € 11,429 89 (11,340) (99) (3,771) 78 3,849 ++
Net income/(loss) or earnings after tax million € 11,570 143 (11,427) (99) (3,592) 132 3,724 ++
attributable to thyssenkrupp AG’s

shareholders million € 11,583 116 (11,466) (99) (3,579) 105 3,685 ++
Earnings per share (EPS) € 18.61 0.19 (18.42) (99) (5.75) 0.17 5.92 ++
Operating cash flows million € (862) 314 1,176 ++ (1,053) 314 1,367 ++
Cash flow for investments million € (1,374) (624) 751 55 (1,334) (624) 710 53
Cash flow from divestments million € 14,753 2 (14,751) (100) 14,775 2 (14,773) (100)
Free cash flow® million € 12,517 (308) (12,825) - 12,389 (308) (12,697) -
Free cash flow before M&A 9 million € (1,380) (321) 1,059 77 (1,503) (321) 1,182 79

Net financial assets (Sept. 30) million € (5,053) (3,586) 1,467 29

Total equity (Sept. 30) million € 10,174 10,845 671 7

Gearing (Sept. 30) % — — — —

Employees (Sept. 30) 103,598 101,275 (2,323) 2)

b See preliminary remarks.

2 See reconciliation in segment reporting (Note 24).
% See reconciliation in the analysis of the statement of cash flows.
¥ Due to the strongly positive total equity and the reported net financial receivables, the significance of the gearing key ratio is of no relevance.
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Forecast-actual comparison

While the economic environment was still dominated by the coronavirus pandemic, thanks to the
positive sales trend, which was highly dependent on the market recovery, and restructuring activities
in all businesses, our key performance indicators adjusted EBIT and free cash flow before M&A (FCF
before M&A) were significantly above the targets set at the beginning of the fiscal year or within the
target range. thyssenkrupp Value Added (tkVA) remained within the expected range but was below
the prior-year figure, which benefited significantly from the Elevator transaction.

Since demand for materials and components for the automotive components businesses increased
due to the market recovery, in the interim report on the 1st quarter thyssenkrupp increased its original
forecast for adjusted EBIT. At the same time, we retained our cautious guidance on the fiscal year as
a whole. In view of the good trend, when the interim report on the 1st six months was published we
again revised our forecast for adjusted EBIT in the continuing operations upwards and forecast a
significant increase towards a positive result in the mid 3-digit million euro range. We retained our
overall expectations when we published the 9-month report for the group and ultimately achieved
the upper end of the implied range with adjusted EBIT of €796 million.

The target set for FCF before M&A at the beginning of the year was also revised upwards when we
published our interim report on the 1st quarter and we forecast a significant improvement towards
£€(1) billion. In our 9-months report, we published a more detailed forecast of between €(1.2) billion
and €(1.5) billion. This forecast took into account the increase in net working capital, which was
strongly dependent on the development of raw material prices. These have increased sharply in all
regions of the world as a result of the economic rebound and are highly volatile. Another reason for
the increase in net working capital, especially in the second half of the fiscal year, was a slowdown
in order call-offs by our customers in the automotive industry due to the difficult supply situation with
semiconductors. Moreover, the revised forecast took into account the strong year-on-year
improvement in earnings, the cash outflows for restructuring, the level of capital expenditures, which
exceeded depreciation and amortization, and the order intake and payment profile in the project
business (especially at Multi Tracks and Marine Systems). On the reporting date, the free cash flow
before M&A was within the expected range at €(1.3) billion.

More information on the factors that influenced the development of earnings is contained in the
sections “Group review” and “Segment review”.

The following chart contains details on the forecasts, which were updated on publication of the

interim reports on the 1st quarter, 1st half and the first 9 months of the reporting year, and the actual
results in 2020/2021:
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FORECAST AND ACTUAL RESULTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020/2021V

Forecast in annual report
2019/2020

Update in interim report
1st quarter 2020/2021

Update in interim report
1st half 2020/2021

Update in interim report
9 months 2020/2021

Actual fiscal year
2020/ 2021

Sales
(continuing operations)

Growth in low to mid single-
digit percentage range

Growth in high single-digit
percentage range

Growth in low two-digit
percentage range

+18%);
on comparable basis:
+19%

Materials Services

+24%;
on comparable basis:
+27%

Industrial Components

Slight sales increase in low to
mid single-digit percentage
range

Sales increase in mid to high
single-digit percentage range

Sales increase in low two-digit
percentage range

+20%;
on comparable basis:
+23%

Automotive Technology

Robust sales performance

Sales growth in mid single-
digit percentage range

Growth in high single-digit
percentage range

+11%;
on comparable basis:
+13%

Steel Europe

+27%;
on comparable basis:
+28%

Marine Systems

Significant sales increase

+11%;
on comparable basis:
+13%

Multi Tracks

Stable sales performance
overall

+2%;
on comparable basis:
+4%

Adjusted EBIT
(continuing operations)

Significant improvement, but
loss still in mid three-digit
million euro range

Significant improvement
towards almost break-even

Significant increase towards
positive earnings of a mid
three-digit million euro
amount

Year-on-year
improvement by
€2,555 million
to €796 million

Significant improvement to a

Significant improvement and
achievement of a figure in low

Significant improvement and
achievement of a substantially

Improvement by

Significant improvement and positive figure in mid two-digit to mid three-digit million euro  positive figure in mid three-digit €672 million
Materials Services achievement of a positive figure million euro range range million euro range to €587 million
Significantly higher adjusted Improvement by
Significantly higher adjusted  EBIT in low to mid three-digit €183 million
Industrial Components  Stable to slight increase EBIT million euro range to €322 million

Automotive Technology

Improvement to a positive
figure in mid to high two-digit
million euro range

Significant recovery to a
positive figure in low three-
digit million euro range

Significant recovery and
achievement of a figure in low
to mid three-digit million euro
range

Improvement by
€430 million
to €264 million

Steel Europe

Significant improvement, but
still negative in low three-digit
million euro range

Significant improvement to
around break-even

Significant improvement to
positive earnings in low to mid
three-digit million euro range

Significant improvement and
achievement of a positive
figure in mid two-digit million
euro range

Improvement by
€936 million
to €116 million

Improvement by

€6 million
Marine Systems higher to €26 million
Significant improvement to a Improvement by
loss in low to mid three-digit €295 million

Multi Tracks million euro range to €(298) million
Improvement by
Improvement in mid to high €27 million
Corporate Headquarters - single-digit percentage range to €(194) million
Increase by
Loss for the year Significant loss of more €5,522 million

(continuing operations)

than €(1) billion

to €(19) million

Earnings after tax (group)

Loss in high three-digit
million euro range

Loss of up to a mid three-
digit million euro amount

Increase by
Investments €190 million
(continuing operations)  Higher year-on-year to €1,630 million
Significantly better, but Increase by
FCF before M&A still negative at around Improvement towards Between €(1.2) billion and €4,241 million

(continuing operations)

€(1.5) billion

€(1) billion

€(1.5) billion

to €(1,273) million

tkVA (group)

Lower year-on-year

Lower year-on-year and
negative

Decrease by
€9,695 million
to €(622) million

D See preliminary remarks.
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Group review

Course of business
Significant improvement in key financials thanks to the dynamic market recovery and
restructuring and portfolio effects

ORDER INTAKE

Changeona Changeona

comparable 4th quarter 4th quarter comparable

Year ended Year ended basis” ended ended basis?

million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30,2021  Change in % in% Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30,2021  Change in % in %
Materials Services? 9,886 12,710 29 31 2,285 3,519 54 54
Industrial Components 2,095 2,556 22 25 517 633 22 22
Automotive Technology? 4,069 4,506 11 13 1,154 1,090 6) ©)
Steel Europe? 7,097 9,283 31 31 1,965 1,951 (1) (1)
Marine Systems 2,235 6,662 ++ ++ 1,870 5,846 ++ ++
Multi Tracks? 4,376 5,883 34 36 997 1,610 62 61
Corporate Headquarters? 4 5 25 26 1 1 (23) (22)
Reconciliation? (1,611) (2,035) (26) — (419) (338) 19 —
Group continuing operations? 28,150 39,571 41 42 8,369 14,311 71 71
Discontinued elevator operations? 6,741 0 - - 627 0 - -
Full group 34,891 39,571 13 34 8,996 14,311 59 66

b Excluding material currency and portfolio effects.
2 See preliminary remarks.

Steep increase in order intake

In Material Services, order intake was significantly higher than in the previous year despite shortages
in the availability of materials. In the 2nd quarter of the fiscal year, in particular, demand significantly
exceeded supply, resulting in price hikes for many products. Almost all businesses in Materials
Services benefited from this. Industrial Components also registered a significant rise in order intake,
with both Bearings and Forged Technologies benefiting from the rebound in demand. Within
Automotive Technology, the original equipment business reported strong growth in steering systems,
camshaft modules and damper systems in the 1st half of the year. Regionally, business in China
developed well at a stable level. The 2nd half of the year was dominated by supply chain bottlenecks.
In particular, shortages of semiconductors led to delays in the call-off of orders by customers. Order
intake at Steel Europe was also significantly higher than in the previous year. In the first six months
in particular, the segment benefited from rising orders as the market picked up. Supply bottlenecks
in the automotive industry in the second half of the year made customers more cautious about
ordering. Order intake at Marine Systems was also significantly higher than in the previous year.
Among other things, this segment benefited from submarine orders for the Italian Navy and orders
from the joint German/Norwegian project. Order intake was up significantly year-on-year at Multi
Tracks as well. The main drivers here were higher prices and volumes in the stainless steel business
and higher demand for plant engineering.
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NET SALES

Change on a Change on a

comparable 4th quarter 4th quarter comparable

Year ended Year ended basis? ended ended basis”
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % in% Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % in%
Materials Services? 9,895 12,315 24 27 2,296 3,770 64 64
Industrial Components 2,099 2,512 20 23 530 635 20 19
Automotive Technology? 4,090 4,522 11 13 1,088 1,063 2) 3)
Steel Europe? 7,023 8,932 27 28 1,760 2,361 34 34
Marine Systems 1,760 2,022 15 15 564 572 1 1
Multi Tracks? 5,522 5,651 2 4 1,357 1,608 18 18
Corporate Headquarters? 9 13 42 42 7 2 (76) (76)
Reconciliation? (1,500) (1,953) (30) — (344) (571) (66) —
Group continuing operations? 28,899 34,015 18 19 7,258 9,441 30 30
Discontinued elevator operations? 6,544 0 - - 693 0 - -
Full group 35,443 34,015 (4) 16 7,951 9,441 19 27
D Excluding material currency and portfolio effects.
2 See preliminary remarks.
SALES BY REGION® 2
in million € (prior-year figures in brackets)
Western Europe
Central and
German-speaking Eastern Europe
area® Commonwealth
of Independent
States
North America ‘ —
289 Greater
(283) China
(»)
Asia - Pacific

DSee preliminary remarks.
2 Sales continuing operations

3 Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein

1,954

(1,870)

Middle East &

Africa
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SALES BY CUSTOMER GROUP 2020/2021"2

in %

Automotive Steel and related Trading Engineering
processing

Public sector Packaging Construction Energy and Other customer
utilities groups

DSee preliminary remarks.
2Sales continuing operations

Sales mirror order intake

At Materials Services, sales were significantly higher than in the prior year due to sharp price rises
and rising sales volumes. At Industrial Components, the Bearings business reported a particularly
positive trend in construction machinery, conveyor technology and medical technology. In the Forged
Technologies business, the recovery of global demand had a positive impact on sales growth in all
areas of application. Automotive Technology also increased sales compared with the weaker prior
year. Steel Europe was successively able to achieve higher prices with customers and benefited from
a rise in shipments, resulting in a significant rise in sales here as well. Sales growth at Marine
Systems resulted principally from the deliveries of the third frigate to the German navy in the 2nd
quarter and the total of four corvettes to the Israeli navy in the fiscal year. Sales in the Multi Tracks
segment were robust overall, mainly because of the positive trend in the stainless steel business.
While Springs & Stabilizers also generated higher sales, there was a drop in sales in plant engineering
and Automation Engineering businesses. There was also a scheduled decline at Heavy Plate due to
shutdown of this business.

The regional breakdown of the group’s sales was largely unchanged. The most important sales
market with a slightly higher share of around 35% of sales was once again the German-speaking
region (Germany, Austria, Switzerland and Liechtenstein). It was followed by Western Europe, which
remained at 19%, and North America, which was also at the prior-year level at around 16%. The
greater China region’s share of sales was constant at around 7%.

With a constant share of 30% of sales, the automotive industry remained the most important
customer group, with particular significance for our automotive components and steel businesses. It
was followed by steel and related processes, which slightly increased their share of sales.
Engineering accounted for a slightly lower share of sales, while trading remained at the prior-year
level.
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Adjusted EBIT improved significantly year-on-year

ADJUSTED EBIT

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Materials Services? (85) 587 ++ (51) 225 ++
Industrial Components 139 322 ++ 17 56 ++
Automotive Technology? (166) 264 ++ (112) 30 ++
Steel Europe?® (820) 116 ++ (203) 29 ++
Marine Systems 20 26 27 12 27 ++
Multi Tracks? (593) (298) 50 (211) (63) 70
Corporate Headquarters? (221) (194) 13 (46) (47) (3)
Reconciliation? (34) (26) 23 (7) (23) -
Group continuing operations?® (1,759) 796 ++ (601) 232 ++
Discontinued elevator operations® 720 0 - 70 0 -
Full group (1,039) 796 ++ (530) 232 ++

b See preliminary remarks.

In the reporting year, the market recovery and measures to improve performance and efficiency
resulted in positive adjusted EBIT, which was significantly higher than in the previous year. At
Materials Services, higher sales volumes and rising prices resulted in a significant increase in the
margin and adjusted EBIT. At Industrial Components, both the Bearings business and the Forged
Technologies business grew adjusted EBIT. Alongside the upturn in demand, this positive trend was
due to cost-cutting measures and action to improve competitiveness. Automotive Technology also
reported a significant increase in adjusted EBIT. As well as the increase in sales and better overall
capacity utilization, this was attributable to the profitable order structure, higher productivity at new
sites and lower depreciation and amortization. At Steel Europe, higher net selling prices and
increased shipments resulted in a significant rise in earnings. Furthermore, restructuring measures
and lower depreciation and amortization had a positive impact on adjusted EBIT. The Marine Systems
business also developed positively. The performance program strengthened existing orders and
safeguarded margins on new business. Multi Tracks also reported a significant reduction in negative
adjusted EBIT, with a positive trend in almost all businesses. Here, support came from market
recovery effects and restructuring and cost-cutting measures.

Corporate Headquarters reduced administrative expenses through restructuring, so adjusted EBIT
improved significantly year-on-year to €(194) million.
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Earnings impacted by special items
EBIT was impacted by special items totaling €346 million in the reporting year.

SPECIAL ITEMS

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change Sept. 30,2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change
Materials Services? 455 (7) (462) 442 42 (401)
Industrial Components 168 24 (144) 117 5 (111)
Automotive Technology? 713 30 (682) 606 41 (565)
Steel Europe? 1,673 175 (1,498) 1,534 4 (1,530)
Marine Systems 5 1 3) 0 2 1
Multi Tracks® 319 89 (230) 229 (30) (259)
Corporate Headquarters? 26 43 17 0 28 28
Reconciliation® 138 (17) (155) 134 (15) (149)
Group continuing operations?® 3,496 340 (3,157) 3,063 76 (2,986)
Discontinued elevator operations? (15,010) 6 15,016 (15,133) (11) 15,122
Full group (11,514) 346 11,859 (12,071) 65 12,136

b See preliminary remarks.

Negative special items in Materials Services were due to impairment losses on assets in the supply
chain area and expenses in connection with the closure of a site. This was offset by positive special
items from various real estate sales. Industrial Components reported restructuring expenses for the
Bearings and Forged Technologies businesses and also recorded impairment losses, mainly in
connection with the planned shutdown of a site by the Forged Technologies business. Automotive
Technology recorded impairment losses on assets in the steering business and restructuring
expenses for dampers. Positive special items came from the reduction in restructuring provisions
and reversals of impairment losses on non-current assets. At Steel Europe, the special items also
resulted from restructuring provisions in connection with the steel strategy 20-30. In the Marine
business and the Multi Tracks segment, special items also mainly comprised the establishment of
restructuring provisions. In Corporate Headquarters, they primarily related to project expenses for
advisory services in connection with M&A transactions.

thyssenkrupp Value Added (tkVA) negative and significantly down from prior year

tkVA for the group in the reporting period was significantly down on the prior year, which had a major
boost from the Elevator transaction. However, almost all the segments were able to increase their
contribution significantly year-on-year. tkVA at Materials Services was positive and significantly
higher than the previous year thanks to a positive operating performance and lower capital employed.
Industrial Components also reported higher tkVA as a result of its improved EBIT. A strong
improvement in EBIT at Automotive Technology also resulted in a significant year-on-year increase.
At Steel Europe, average capital employed was lower than a year earlier. The strong earnings
improvement led to a significant year-on-year increase in tkVA. Marine Systems increased its EBIT,
but also reported significantly higher capital employed. As a result, tkVA decreased slightly and
remained negative. The tkVA of Multi Tracks also improved due to the positive earnings performance
and lower capital employed.
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Details on tkVA and its main components are shown in the following table.

THYSSENKRUPP VALUE ADDED (TKVA)

Year ended Sept. 30, 2020

Year ended Sept. 30, 2021

Capital Capital

EBIT ¥ employed WACC tkVA EBIT employed WACC tkVA Change tkVA

(million €) (million €) (%) (million €) (million €) (million €) (%) (million €) (million €)

Full group 10,475 17,526 8.0 9,073 451 13,410 8.0 (622) (9,695)
Thereof:

Materials Services? (540) 3,031 8.0 (783) 594 2,587 8.0 387 1,170

Industrial Components (29) 1,504 8.5 (157) 297 1,376 8.5 180 337

Automotive Technology? (878) 2,955 8.5 (1,129) 234 2,421 8.5 28 1,157

Elevator Technology? 15,784 1,507 7.5 15,671 0 0 0.0 0 (15,671)

Steel Europe? (2,492) 5,216 8.5 (2,936) (59) 4,062 85 (404) 2,531

Marine Systems 15 1,220 8.0 (82) 24 1,686 8.0 (111) (28)

Multi Tracks? 911) 1,116 8.0 (1,000) (387) 830 8.0 (454) 547

D See reconciliation in segment reporting (Note 24).
2 See preliminary remarks.

More information on the importance of tkVA and EBIT for the management of the group is contained
in the section “Fundamental information about the group”, subsection “Management of the group”.
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Segment review

Materials Services

Investing in automation and digitization: from order processing through ware-
housing to transportation systems (logistics center in Rotenburg)

F, ‘ gu -l |

ST LY PP IY TSI

Sales

“We’re implementing Materials as a Service
to focus our materials business and expand
our supply chain expertise. To achieve that
we want to develop sustainable products and
services that are digital, integrated and cus-
tomer-oriented.”

Martin Stillger,
CEO of thyssenkrupp
Materials Services
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Materials Services is the
largest independent materi-
als distributor and service
provider in the western world
(Europe & North America).
Our offering ranges from
high-quality starting prod-
ucts and (raw) materials

to technical service and
intelligent solutions for more
sustainable, digital supply
chains.

Employees
worldwide

Investing in new services: The new
narrow strip center for stainless steel
produces strips that are up to 25 km
long (Mannheim site)
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MATERIALS SERVICES IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 9,886 12,710 29 2,285 3,519 54
Net sales million € 9,895 12,315 24 2,296 3,770 64
EBITDA million € 91 758 ++ (142) 244 ++
EBIT million € (540) 594 ++ (494) 183 ++
Adjusted EBITV million € (85) 587 ++ (51) 225 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % 0.9 4.8 ++ (2.2) 6.0 ++
Investments million € 115 97 (16) 55 41 (25)
Employees (Sept. 30) 15,800 15,296 (3) 15,800 15,296 (3)

D See preliminary remarks.

Materials Services is the largest independent materials distributor and service provider in the western
world (Europe and North America). We offer an extensive range of services to our customers from a
wide range of industrial sectors and work continuously to ensure a strong delivery performance based
on partnership with our suppliers and our multi-sourcing approach. Our portfolio ranges from high-
quality materials and raw materials to technical services through the development of intelligent
processes for automation, extended supply chains, warehousing and inventory management. A high
level of customer satisfaction is vital for us and we strive continuously to further lift this figure and
ensure it remains high.

Following our strategy of “materials as a service”, services are at the heart of our ongoing
development. We see key market trends as being the digitization of the supply chain and a significant
increase in the importance of sustainability. This is exactly where we can step in, supporting our
clients with physical and digital services and helping them to make their supply chain fit for the future.
This is also intended to benefit the environment, since systematic use is made of the existing
industrial data in order to save on materials and transport, and so on carbon emissions also.
Digitization and automation within Materials Services itself also make it possible to streamline many
internal processes.

Our strategic transformation aims to boost performance in the traditional trading business, while
expanding our high-margin supply chain services in order to consolidate our leading market position
in Europe and North America. Our tools include a systematic innovation process, focused growth,
and excellence in purchasing, sales, production, logistics and administration. Steps to optimize our
portfolio and our network are also being consistently implemented at the same time.
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Order intake and sales: significantly up on the prior year, with reduced availability of
materials

Order intake and sales performed very well in the reporting period. After a rather weak 1st quarter,
sales volumes and prices increased continuously over the remainder of the fiscal year, in a market
that was increasingly characterized by a shortage of materials. In total, Materials Services sold
9.1 million tons of materials and raw materials in the reporting period, 12% more than in the prior
year. Demand significantly outpaced supply, so that prices for finished steel in particular continued
to reach new highs in the fiscal year, whereby most other products also saw sharp price rises. AlImost
all businesses benefited from this — from warehousing and the direct-to-customer business through
to the service centers and the units specialized in supply chain solutions. Demand from the
automotive industry in particular recovered rapidly from the decline caused by the pandemic in the
2019/2020 fiscal year and made a major contribution to the rise in the segment’s sales volumes
and revenues. Looking at the regions, performance was also positive throughout. Growth in the

international trading business and at the eastern European trading companies was particularly strong.

Adjusted EBIT: strong performance thanks to market situation and internal transformation
Both service units in the segment — Distribution Services and Supply Chain Services — profited
particularly from the supply shortages and the seller’s market from the 2nd quarter onwards. Margins
and so adjusted EBIT performed extremely well thanks to rising sales volumes and prices. Great
progress was made with the strategic transformation in the reporting period: for example, the site
network was optimized by means of disposals (Thailand, R6hm ltalia), closures (including
thyssenkrupp Aerospace Varel), consolidation (the logistics center Rotenburg replaces the
warehouse sites in Hamburg and Bremen) and mergers of businesses (in France, Britain and India).
In addition, the Stainless Steel Service Center Dortmund was transferred to the thyssenkrupp Multi
Tracks segment. These measures, along with various restructuring programs at companies in the
segment, led to a further reduction in the workforce of 3% compared with September 30, 2020
following a reduction of 7% the prior year. Since sales volumes increased at the same time (+3% in
warehouse sales), this meant that productivity improved year-on-year by 5% (warehouse sales per
employee).

57

Supply bottlenecks and increasing
demand cause prices to soar.



@OWME

thyssenkrupp annual report 2020/2021
2 Combined management report | Report on the economic position

Special items

Negative special items in the reporting year included write-downs on assets in the Supply Chain unit,
as well as expenses in connection with the closure of the Steel Service Center site in Wérth. They
were more than offset by non-recurring income, however, mainly resulting from various disposals.
This includes the activities in Thailand, the Leverkusen site of Materials Processing Europe that was
closed in 2020, the plastics company Réhm ltalia and land in Freiburg, Bremen and Cologne.

Investments

The new logistics center in Rotenburg (Wimme) went into operation in the reporting period. Its high
level of digitization and automation mean it should make a significant contribution to increasing
productivity. In addition, the segment invested both in Germany and in Poland in capacities for cutting
coils to length, in order to keep expanding its business. The narrow strip center for stainless steel
was also opened in Mannheim and a warehousing site acquired in Frechen. In the USA the segment
expanded the Steel Service Center in Woodstock (Alabama) and bought operating and office
equipment in the course of renewing the service agreement with thyssenkrupp Elevator in Kenosha
(Wisconsin). Investments were also made to replace and upgrade equipment in various warehousing
and service units. Other investments focused on continuing the digital transformation along the entire
value chain, and on the further expansion of the omnichannel architecture, also visible in the recently
opened online store SteelBuy.
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Industrial Components — Bearings

rothe erde® slewing rings

160 years of innovation,
quality and precision have
made Bearings a preferred
supplier of seamless rolled
rings and slewing bearings.
Around 7,000 employees in
twelve countries stand for
cooperation, reliability and
customized solutions.

Employ
worldw

ok

“Together with our customers we want
to address the global challenges of
our age in order to find innovative and
sustainable solutions and create value

bl"lon for our customers and partners.”

Sales Winfried Schulte,
CEO thyssenkrupp rothe erde

rothe erde® rotor bearings

59



@OWME

thyssenkrupp annual report 2020/2021
2 Combined management report | Report on the economic position

Industrial Components — Forged Technologies

As a specialist in steel
forging, we are one of
the world’s leading
producers of compo-
nents for engines,
chassis and under-
carriage. We supply to
customers in the
automotive and con-
struction machinery
industries and are sure
that our customers
value our highly auto-
mated machine park.

Producing a truck crankshaft at the site in Campo Limpo, Brazil.

Forging a chainwheel for a mining excavator
at Europe’s largest forge press.

“As a leading specialist for forged engine,
chassis and undercarriage components, our

goal is to meet the individual requirements
, of customers around the world.”

Employees Patrick Buchmann,
worldwide CEO Forged Technologies
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INDUSTRIAL COMPONENTS IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 2,095 2,556 22 517 633 22
Net sales million € 2,099 2,512 20 530 635 20
EBITDA million € 228 400 76 24 79 ++
EBIT million € (29) 297 ++ (100) 50 ++
Adjusted EBITV million € 139 322 ++ 17 56 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % 6.6 12.8 93 3.2 8.8 ++
Investments million € 176 225 28 88 92 5
Employees (Sept. 30) 12,500 12,812 2 12,500 12,812 2

D See preliminary remarks.

Industrial Components comprises two business units: the bearings business and forgings business.

In the bearings business, a niche within the rolling-element bearing market, Bearings is the global
market leader and also one of the biggest manufacturers of seamless rolled slewing rings. Our
products are individually designed and manufactured for the customer. They have a mission-critical
role in the machinery where they are used and are indispensable for ensuring its smooth operation.
Our slewing bearings and rings are used in a wide range of forward-looking applications. In addition
to customers in the wind energy market, which is where growth is predicted to be fastest, we also
serve customers in very different industrial markets — from construction machinery, cranes and tunnel
boring machines to conveyors, general engineering and many others. Our technical competence is
a key differentiating criterion in competition and a vital factor in our reputation for quality and
technology leadership. We are present with manufacturing sites in many important regions of the
world and so can provide our global clients with the best possible support. Our goal is to maintain
our global market leadership over the long term in the fast-growing market segment of bearings. To
achieve this and to improve our performance we continuously implement measures to cut costs and
boost efficiency. This is accompanied by a long-term investment strategy aimed at profiting from
ongoing market growth in the wind energy industry.

Forged Technologies is a specialist in the forgings business and is among the leading global
manufacturers of components for engines, undercarriages and construction machinery, supplying
customers in the truck, automotive and construction machine sectors. We are convinced that our
customers appreciate the high quality of our components, our technical know-how and our highly
automated machine park. We consider our high-performance culture to be one of our strengths,
along with our sharp focus on continuous improvements. Increasing the personnel efficiency and
optimizing our production processes form the basis for sustainable earnings improvements. Our aim
is to increase our market share and achieve growth with new products. In the application area of
undercarriages for construction machinery we work consistently to develop our offering for end
customers. In addition to launching a new brand, new products and strengthening our network of
distribution partners in new regions, we are building a professional e-commerce offering and so
optimizing our value chain. We are adding chassis components to our product portfolio in order to
meet the change in market demand for engine components towards a higher share of electric motors.
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Order intake and sales: further growth at Bearings and significant recovery in the forgings
business

The order intake in the reporting year was significantly higher than in the prior year. The bearings
business reported further growth in its order intake. In addition to significantly higher demand from
the construction machinery and general engineering sectors, the market segments crane
construction, conveyor technology and aerospace components particularly helped to overcome the
decline in demand caused by the pandemic. Order intake in the wind energy sector was about the
same as the previous year. The forgings business particularly profited from the recovery in global
demand, with demand here stabilizing at a high level following the dip caused by the pandemic. This
trend was supported by the broader product range in the construction machinery sector.

Sales performance in the reporting periods was in line with new orders. Significant sales increases
were reported in the bearings business. Construction machinery, conveyor technology and medical
devices performed especially well, having seen their markets decline in the previous year due to the
coronavirus pandemic. Sales also rose in the wind energy segment, boosted by pull-forward effects
before incentive programs in China came to an end in 2020 and 2021. The crane components and
general engineering sectors reported no change on the prior year, by contrast. The recovery of global
demand in the forgings business increased sales growth in all application areas.

Adjusted EBIT significantly up on prior year — mainly due to sales growth and supported by
steps to increase efficiency

Adjusted EBIT increased significantly in the past fiscal year. The bearings business reported
significant earnings improvements. Rising demand meant that positive contributions were achieved,
especially due to economies of scale and productivity increases. Implementation of steps to improve
competitiveness also contributed to boosting the result. In the forgings business the recovery in
global demand played a particularly important role. The significant earnings improvement was
supported by the early cost-cutting measures taken in response to the coronavirus pandemic.

Special items

Restructuring expenses were incurred in both business units, particularly in Germany. Impairment
losses particularly affected the forgings business, by contrast, in connection with the planned closure
of a site.

Investments

Growth investments to increase capacities were made in the bearings business, above all in the wind
energy sector, and there especially at the manufacturing sites in Europe and Asia. In the forgings
business, the focus was on equipment automation and the construction of a new forging line for
chassis components at the site in Homburg.
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Automotive Technology

Engineers working on a chassis on a mobile development platform

Employees
worldwide

Automotive Technology is one of the leading suppliers
and engineering partners of the international auto-
motive industry, specializing in chassis technologies,
drivetrain and automotive body solutions. Its product
and service portfolio comprises high-tech components
and systems along with automation solutions for

vehicle manufacturing. We have aligned our product program

with the trend to e-mobility, self-driv-
ing vehicles and sustainability. The
aim is to continue to grow profitably.”

Dr. Karsten Kroos,
CEO Automotive Technology

billion

Sales

Steer-by-wire test vehicle
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AUTOMOTIVE TECHNOLOGY IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 4,069 4,506 11 1,154 1,090 (6)
Net sales million € 4,090 4,522 11 1,088 1,063 (2)
EBITDA million € 34 482 ++ 87) 82 ++
EBIT million € (878) 234 ++ (718) (11) 98
Adjusted EBITV million € (166) 264 ++ (112) 30 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % (4.0 5.8 ++ (10.3) 2.8 ++
Investments million € 327 268 (18) 110 110 0
Employees (Sept. 30) 19,483 19,723 1 19,483 19,723 1

D See preliminary remarks.

Automotive Technology is a leading German supplier and engineering partner to the international
automotive industry. Its product and service portfolio comprises high-tech components and systems
along with automation solutions for vehicle manufacturing. They include chassis technologies such
as steering and damper systems and the assembly of axle systems as well as powertrain components
for conventional and alternative engines. We also develop assembly systems for body-in-white
construction and produce lightweight car body components in series. We cover the entire value chain:
from the development and manufacture of components, via mechanical processing through the
assembly of highly complex systems. The demands of our customers in terms of quality and
functionality are decisive when we develop new products. Mechatronic solutions with internally
developed electronics and software play an increasingly important role.

Our growth and performance goal is to be among the best in our competitive environment. We have
consistently aligned our product portfolio with the next-generation trends in the automotive industry,
such as electric vehicles and self-driving vehicles, which offer us exciting opportunities. Our global
market and production presence enables us to participate in growth in various regions in proximity
to our customers. Continuous improvement measures enable us to keep improving our production
and cost efficiency.

Higher demand and sales growth

Automotive Technology reported a significant increase in order intake and sales in all business units
compared with the prior year, which was impacted by the coronavirus pandemic and lockdowns.
There was strong growth in the automotive serial business for steering systems, camshaft modules
and damper systems, with higher overall demand in the 1st half and a stable, good business
performance in China. Bottlenecks in the supply chain became increasingly apparent at the start of
the 3rd quarter. The shortage of semiconductor products in particular had the effect of reducing
customer call-offs, with spontaneous call-off interruptions or production stoppages in some cases,
which were almost impossible to anticipate. This also affected the 4th quarter. Strong demand in
China in the first half also slowed due to supply chain problems. On the other hand, we won relevant
long-term framework contracts in automotive serial business over the course of the fiscal year, which
enabled us to ensure the future capacity utilization of our plants.
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Adjusted EBIT up significantly year-on-year

Adjusted EBIT increased to a three-digit amount, a significant improvement following the prior year’s
loss; the EBIT margin rose to 5.8%. All business units reported earnings increases. Higher sales
volumes with better overall capacity utilization had a positive effect, as did a profitable order structure,
higher productivity in the new plants and lower write-downs. Further positive effects included
compensation agreed with a customer and the absence of expenses recognized in the prior-year
financial statements for additions to order-related provisions, quality issues and impairment losses
on net working capital. In the 2nd half our challenge was to cope with disruptions to the supply chain,
such as bottlenecks in the supply of electronic semiconductor and other primary products, in addition
to higher costs for raw materials, packaging and freight. The restructuring program initiated at
Automotive Body Solutions (previously System Engineering) was implemented on schedule and
reduced personnel costs.

Special items

Impairment losses were recognized on non-current assets in the Steering business unit in the
reporting period. Restructuring expenses were also incurred in the Damper unit. The reduction in the
restructuring provision for Automotive Body Solutions had a positive effect. In addition, non-current
assets were written up following an agreement with a customer about a canceled project.

Investments

In the Steering business investments were made in order-related projects for electric steering
systems in China, Mexico and Europe — here especially in Hungary. At Damper the focus was on
expanding order-related production capacities in Romania, the USA and Mexico. In addition, order-
related investments were made in the production of adjustable camshafts and cylinder head modules.
Our investments in forward-looking products and manufacturing sites in attractive regions close to
our customers enable us to exploit growth opportunities and help us to achieve our cost and
profitability targets.
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Steel Europe

Bird’s eye view of the Duisburg site

Steel Europe concen-
o~ trates on the market for
high-quality flat carbon
steel. The product range
comprises hot-rolled
coil, thick sheet, premium
strips, coated products,
non-oriented electrical
steel, tinplate, medium
coil and grain-oriented
electrical steel.

26,3503

Employees
worldwide

“Our strategy 20-30 is focused on tomor-
row’s customer requirements. To make our
product portfolio more profitable and op-

timize costs we are investing specifically in a ""'f:m. .
the core units in our production network.” P .
Bernhard Osburg, CEO of thyssenkrupp Steel Non-grain-oriented electrical steel produced in Bochum is used in
Europe AG the manufacture of generators and electric drives.
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STEEL EUROPE IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 7,097 9,283 31 1,965 1,951 (1)
Net sales million € 7,023 8,932 27 1,760 2,361 34
EBITDA million € (5632) 214 ++ (116) 92 ++
EBIT million € (2,492) (59) 98 (1,737) 24 ++
Adjusted EBITV million € (820) 116 ++ (203) 29 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % (11.7) 1.3 ++ (11.5) 1.2 ++
Investments million € 491 681 39 144 292 ++
Employees (Sept. 30) 26,632 26,303 (1) 26,632 26,303 (1

D See preliminary remarks.

Steel Europe is the largest steel producer in Germany and concentrates on the attractive market
segment of high-quality flat carbon steel, where it is one of the most important suppliers in its core
European market. Its product portfolio comprises hot-rolled coil, thin sheet, premium strips, coated
products, tinplate, medium coil and grain-oriented and non-oriented electrical steel in a wide range
of grades. The main purchasers of the products are the automotive and engineering sectors, the
metalworking industry, including the energy sector, and the construction industry. We see our
strengths in the development of customized solutions and in our technical know-how based on long
experience. It goes without saying that continuous quality management and numerous process-
improvement initiatives are part of our work.

With the ongoing implementation of our Steel Strategy 20-30 we want to achieve an even more
valuable product portfolio while optimizing the cost structure at the same time. This will enable us to
increase our operating performance significantly and put us among the best in our market. We invest
in more efficient structures for the core units in our production process, with a particular focus on
the growing demands of automotive customers and individual industrial sectors. These may be
crash-relevant sheets for the vehicle’s safety architecture, improved surfaces or thinner, high-
performance steels for electric vehicles.

As part of our transition to climate-neutral steel production we are planning to put our first hydrogen-
powered direct reduction plant into operation by 2025. Capacities for climate-friendly steel are set to
rise to three million tons by 2030. This would represent an annual reduction of six million tons of CO..

Order intake and sales: market picks up significantly following pandemic-related slump in
spring 2020

From a low base in weak prior quarters due to the pandemic, Steel Europe started the reporting year
on an upward trend. The segment profited from the economic upswing that began at the end of
summer 2020 and the resulting recovery in demand from the European flat steel market. One key
driver of this development was the European automotive industry, which successively ramped up its
production again after widespread shutdowns in spring 2020. Over the remainder of the year its
production returned to its pre-pandemic level at times. Industrial customers also contributed to the
recovery by restocking their inventories of essential products. The significant up-tick in overall
demand caused spot market prices to rise. Supply bottlenecks increasingly had an impact on the
business performance of many customer industries over the remainder of the reporting year.
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Order intake went up significantly in the reporting year. In the first two quarters of the fiscal year in
particular, orders rose significantly as a result of greater market activity. The first supply bottlenecks
became apparent at our automotive customers from the 3rd quarter onwards, and they were more
cautious with their orders as a result. Furthermore, our scope for new orders was limited in the 4th
quarter for capacity reasons, due to the planned upgrade of blast furnace number 1 in Schwelgern.
In total, order volumes in fiscal year 2020/2021 rose year-on-year by 15% to some 11 million tons.
In addition, the continuous rise in market prices from summer 2020 onwards had an effect on the
new contracts negotiated over the course of the fiscal year.

Sales increased significantly year-on-year, largely due to higher price agreements with our customers.

Shipments were also up, by 13% at almost 10 million tons. Following a sharp fall in spring 2020,
shipments to the automotive industry and its suppliers in particular picked up again strongly. Over
the course of the year sales to industrial customers went up again also. Deliveries of packaging steel
were stable at the same level as the prior year; this business only saw a slight decline, despite the
coronavirus pandemic. The Precision Steel business unit reported a significant year-on-year increase
in sales. Turnaround was achieved in the Electric Steel business unit, mainly as a result of the
improvement in product quality and thus in the intrinsic value of the product portfolio. This also
contributed to the rise in sales.

Crude steel production, including deliveries from Huttenwerke Krupp Mannesmann, was about 11
million tons, around 13% higher than the prior year, although output was limited by the planned blast
furnace number one relining in Schwelgern in the 4th quarter. Some production facilities also
experienced temporary production restrictions over the course of the year. In addition to technical
restrictions, this was also due to weather effects. Overall, both production volumes and capacity
utilization were significantly higher in the reporting period than in the prior year. Rolled steel
production for customers increased by 14% to around 10 million tons.

Adjusted EBIT: significant earnings improvement over the course of the year

Adjusted EBIT improved significantly in the past fiscal year. Higher demand and an upwards trend in
market prices had a positive impact, resulting in a continuous increase in net selling prices compared
with the prior year. The restructuring initiated in fiscal year 2019/2020 also had a positive effect.
This was offset by restrictions on production, rising and very volatile raw materials prices and most
recently by the planned upgrade to the blast furnace number one.

Special items
Special items included provisions for ongoing restructuring, mainly comprising job reductions in
administrative areas and production-related administration, which are expected to be completed by
September 30, 2023, and in-house adjustments in connection with implementation of the steel
strategy 20-30.
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Investments

The construction of the new hot-dip coating line at the Dortmund location is intended to meet the
increasing demand from automobile manufacturers for higher quality hot-dip coated products.
Assembly was completed in September 2021. The line is scheduled to go into production in 2022
once the functional tests have been completed. The Packaging Steel business unit is building a new
coating line to continue the production of special chromium-plated tinplate under improved
environmental standards. Assembly is going to plan, with construction and engineering work now
completed. The blast furnace number one in Schwelgern, which has a capacity of 3.6 million tons
per year, resumed operations on October 1, 2021 after a planned blast furnace relining. A large
proportion of the orders have already been placed for the major investments defined in the Steel
Strategy 20-30, such as the transformation of the casting-rolling line in Duisburg-Bruckhausen and
the newbuild of a double reversing mill and an annealing and isolating line in Bochum. The
engineering work with the suppliers is progressing to schedule.
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We are the global market
leader in conventional sub-
marines and a leader in the
development of new surface
and submarine technologies
for naval customers.

Employees
worldwide

The “Baden-Wiirttemberg”, a class F125 frigate
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“We are working with our customers
today to define and deliver tomor-
row’s marine standards.”

Dr. Rolf Wirtz, CEO Marine Systems
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MARINE SYSTEMS IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 2,235 6,662 ++ 1,870 5,846 ++
Net sales million € 1,760 2,022 15 564 572 1
EBITDA million € 74 88 19 29 43 48
EBIT million € 15 24 60 12 25 ++
Adjusted EBITV million € 20 26 27 12 27 ++
Adjusted EBIT margin % 1.1 1.3 11 2.2 4.7 ++
Investments million € 73 101 38 30 47 57
Employees (Sept. 30) 6,355 6,534 3 6,355 6,534 3

D See preliminary remarks.

Marine Systems is a leading global manufacturer of conventional submarines, naval vessels and
marine electronics and offers its services to navies. As a fully integrated system supplier (platform,
electronics, integration and services), we develop and manufacture holistic solutions from a single
source for our customers, both in Germany and with local partners in the customer’s country. In
addition, we work to develop and expand our portfolio. We invest in the development of solutions to
recover and dispose of ordnance from the sea, for instance.

Our aim is to underline our technology leadership and strengthen our competitive position. Navies
around the world have to modernize: in our analysis the NATO target for defense spending and the
trend away from highly specific national fleets towards standardized products for the global naval
market represent growth potential. The joint order to build submarines for Germany and Norway is a
key milestone for us. Moreover, we are currently taking a local shipyard into service for the frigate
program in Brazil.

In recent years we have also taken decisive steps to refine and optimize our project execution and
profitability. To this end we are investing extensively to modernize our shipyard in Kiel and are
consistently implementing our performance program. This entails optimizing processes, instruments
and structures along the entire value chain and reducing administrative expenses.

Order intake dominated by major submarine order — stable sales growth

The order intake in the reporting year was significantly higher than in the prior year. The reason for
the increase was the order of €5.5 hillion for the joint German/Norwegian project to build six identical
submarines and an order from the Italian navy for a submarine project. Existing contracts were also
extended for submarines and surface vessels, with smaller orders received for maintenance and
service. In addition, the marine electronics business acquired several medium-size orders.

71

° www.thyssenkrupp.com >
Company > Corporate structure >
Marine Systems


https://www.thyssenkrupp.com/en/company/corporate-structure/shipbuilding

@OWME

thyssenkrupp annual report 2020/2021
2 Combined management report | Report on the economic position

Sales increased significantly year-on-year. This is a result of the growing order intake and stems from
the good progress made on projects, final invoicing for the delivery of the third F125 frigate to the
German navy in March and the handover of four corvettes in total to the Israeli navy in the fiscal year
In the last quarter we also delivered the fourth submarine to a customer in the Mediterranean and
submitted the final invoice.

Adjusted EBIT again up significantly year-on-year

Adjusted EBIT was higher than the prior year, continuing its positive trend. The order book still
includes some old orders with poor margins. The performance program will bring an improvement
here. At the same time, efforts are under way to secure margins on new business and reduce
administrative expenses.

Special items
Special items consist of provisions for restructuring.

Investments

Progress was made on the modernization of the shipyard in Kiel, with the aim of optimizing project
execution and improving profitability.
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Multi Tracks

,900

Employees
worldwide

The businesses grouped in the Multi
Tracks segment differ enormously in
terms of size, business operations
and independence. All are facing
specific challenges. We endeavor to
find the best option for each of these
companies.

5 o 7 billion

Sales

Assembling electrolysis cells

“We focus on the development
of these companies. After a
year, we can say that Multi
Tracks is a real success model
for thyssenkrupp.”?

Dr. Volkmar Dinstuhl,
CEO Multi Tracks

Dwe.talk* on October 6, 2021

*we.talk is an internal video podcast format at
thyssenkrupp. The interviewees present their
companies and themselves to all employees

Solutions for the cement industry in the thyssenkrupp group.
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MULTI TRACKS IN FIGURES

4th quarter 4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended

Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Order intake million € 4,376 5,883 34 997 1,610 62
Net sales million € 5,522 5,651 2 1,357 1,608 18
EBITDA million € (605) (285) 53 (234) (39) 83
EBIT million € (911) (387) 57 (440) (33) 93
Adjusted EBITV million € (593) (298) 50 (211) (63) 70
Adjusted EBIT margin % (10.7) (5.3) 51 (15.6) (3.9 75
Investments million € 141 107 (25) 61 41 (32)
Employees (Sept. 30) 19,909 18,360 (8) 19,909 18,360 8

U'See preliminary remarks.

The Multi Tracks segment is where thyssenkrupp holds the Elevator investment and businesses for
which we are considering other ownership structures in the short to medium term. This may be a full
or partial disposal, for example, or the continuation of a business with one or more external partners.

The companies in the Multi Tracks segment come from very different businesses, from plant
engineering to automotive supplies. In addition to these investments in rather traditional industrial
companies, the portfolio includes a joint venture in the incipient hydrogen market in which
thyssenkrupp holds a majority stake.

Focus areas in fiscal year 2020/2021
Two action areas in the thyssenkrupp strategy define the activities in the Multi Tracks segment:
portfolio and performance. The segment made good progress in both in the past fiscal year.

= Portfolio: the agreement to sell the mining business to the Danish company FLSmidth was signed
in late July 2021. The signing for the sale of the infrastructure business to FMC Beteiligungs KG
took place shortly afterwards. The sale of thyssenkrupp Carbon Components to Action Composites
GmbH from Austria was completed on August 31. The contract to sell the stainless steel business
(AST, including the associated distribution activities) to Arvedi Group was signed on September
16, 2021. At the end of September 2021 the heavy plate mill in Duisburg was closed.

= Performance: to improve the financial performance we identified the key levers for value creation

in every single business in the Multi Tracks segment and used them to define appropriate measures.

This also includes site closures and downsizing.
Thanks to the ambitious targets that Multi Tracks has set itself for the portfolio and performance

action areas, the segment made a substantial contribution to improving thyssenkrupp’s financial
position in fiscal year 2020/2021.
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Significantly higher order intake as coronavirus effect diminishes and slight positive trend
in sales

Order intake in the Multi Tracks segment was significantly higher than the prior year, which was
severely impacted by the coronavirus pandemic. This positive trend is particularly due to higher
prices and volumes in the stainless steel business. Increased demand in plant engineering also
helped. We won the contract for a major cement plant in France and the first hydrogen projects
alongside others in the chemical plant construction business. As expected, the decision to close the
heavy plate business had an offsetting effect.

Sales performance was robust, thanks to the stainless steel business, but other units were mixed.
Plant engineering was not able to maintain its sales due to the lower order intake the prior year. The
sales decline in chemical plant construction stemmed mainly from the planned expiry and delays in
the execution of two major projects. Sales in Automation Engineering were down, largely due to the
low order intake the prior year. Sales in Springs & Stabilizers performed well as the influence of the
coronavirus declined, although business volume was affected from the 3rd quarter by the global
semiconductor shortage and lower customer call-offs as a result. The closure of the heavy plate
business reduced sales as planned.

Significantly lower loss in adjusted EBIT
Adjusted EBIT remained negative in the reporting year, but improved year-on-year in almost all
businesses.

A reduction of administration and selling expenses in plant engineering and positive earnings
performance in the service business of the mining and cement businesses were offset by lower sales
in new installations. Lower costs for reworking and higher positive non-recurring effects contributed
to the positive earnings development in Mining and Cement. Earnings in chemical plant construction
business were impacted by high reworking costs and lower sales.

Earnings in the stainless steel business improved significantly thanks to resurgent demand, the fact
that higher raw materials costs had already partly been passed on to customers, and inventory
measurement effects. The closure of heavy plate business and an improved performance in
Automation Engineering had a positive effect. There was no major change in the results of other
businesses.

Restructuring and cost-cutting measures in Germany reduced losses significantly in almost all units.
Wide-ranging restructuring in plant engineering and Automation Engineering, alongside the closure
of the heavy plate business and the Springs & Stabilizers plant in Olpe, resulted in the loss of some
2,000 jobs. This was offset by recruitment in plant engineering in India and Brazil and at UCE
Germany and in Springs & Stabilizers in Hungary. On balance this resulted in a reduction of around
1,150 employees.
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Special items

Significant special items were the recognition of restructuring provisions in the heavy plate business
as part of the closure, and in mining and chemical businesses. Impairment losses were also
recognized in the infrastructure business. The impairment recognized in the stainless steel business
in fiscal year 2019/2020 was partly written back. These were offset by the partial reversal of
restructuring provisions in Automation Engineering, Springs & Stabilizers, and cement business,
which were recognized during the prior year and were remeasured due to changes in the structure of
the measures.

Investments

Investments declined year-on-year in the Multi Tracks segment, particular in Springs & Stabilizers,
plant engineering and the stainless steel business. Despite this, investment continued in all
businesses to preserve asset value and safeguard the market position. Springs & Stabilizers, plant
engineering and stainless steel business accounted for the largest volumes. Investment in heavy
plate business was reduced as planned.

Corporate Headquarters at thyssenkrupp AG

The group is managed centrally by thyssenkrupp AG. This is where the main administrative units are
gathered. The administrative units of Corporate (CorpHQs) and the regions are combined in the
Corporate Headquarters segment. The structure of CorpHQ was further simplified in the fiscal year
and is now also aligned with the three core themes: portfolio, performance and people. The previous
central functions have been allocated to these three corporate centers (CC). Further mergers also
took place in the Regions unit. The regional centers in India, Asia / Pacific and Middle East & Africa
were combined in the regional platform APA (Asia/Pacific/Africa). In addition there are still the
regional platforms in North and South America and in the greater China region.

Adjusted EBIT at Corporate Headquarters amounted to €(194) million in fiscal 2020/2021, a
significant improvement on the prior-year figure. This positive trend is due to lower administrative
costs, following restructuring in the corporate centers and the regional platforms.

Special items
At Corporate Headquarters the special items result mainly from project advisory expenses in

connection with M&A transactions.

Investments
No significant investments were made at Corporate Headquarters in fiscal 2020/2021.
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Results of operations and financial position

For the effects of the coronavirus pandemic in the 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 fiscal years, see also
the remarks contained in the report on the economic position in the sections “Group review” and
“Segment review”.

Analysis of the statement of income

Net sales from continuing operations in fiscal year 2020/2021 were 18% above the corresponding
prior-year figure. All segments contributed to the significant improvement, but especially the
materials businesses. At the same time the cost of sales in continuing operations went up at a
significantly lower rate than sales growth, rising by 2%. The main reasons for this were the
significantly higher cost of materials due to higher sales, but which were offset by a significant fall in
impairment losses and lower depreciation and amortization. Under these circumstances the gross
sales margin improved very strongly from (1.0)% to 12.8%.

The increase in selling expenses of continuing operations mainly related to higher sales-related
freight, insurance and customs expenses. The significant decline in general and administrative
expenses of continuing operations stemmed particularly from much lower personnel expenses and
impairment losses, as well as from a decline in IT expenses. The main reasons for the overall increase
in other income from continuing operations were payments received as part of an agreement with a
customer for a canceled project in the 3rd quarter of the reporting year and income received in the
reporting year in connection with credits for non-income taxes in Brazil; they were offset by lower
grants, especially from the German government in connection with the reimbursement of social
security contributions for short-time work. The steep decline in other expenses of continuing
operations resulted mainly from high impairment losses on goodwill recognized in the prior year. The
improvement in other gains and losses of continuing operations was mainly due to higher gains on
the disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Lower income from investments accounted for using the equity method in continuing operations
related primarily to the pro rata losses from the Elevator investment recognized in the reporting year.
The overall improvement in the still negative balance of financing income and expenses for continuing
operations came particularly from lower net interest expenses on financial debt and income
recognized in the reporting year from the subsequent measurement of the interest-free loan acquired
in connection with the Elevator investment.

The increase in income taxes on continuing operations was largely due to higher earnings by the
individual group companies.
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After taking into account income taxes, the loss from continuing operations amounted to €19 million,
compared with a very high loss of €5,541 million in the prior year. Accordingly, the loss per share
attributable to the shareholders of thyssenkrupp AG based on income from continuing operations
improved significantly by €8.74to €0.17. The very steep fall of €15,140 million in overall profits from
discontinued operations to a loss of €6 million was essentially due to the disposal gain of €15,010
recognized in the prior year on completion of the Elevator transaction, as well as the absence of
current (after-tax) profits of €124 million recognized in the prior year. Including income from
discontinued operations (net of taxes), a net loss of €25 million was incurred in the reporting year,
compared with net income of €9,592 million in the prior year. Accordingly, earnings per share

contracted strongly by €15.58to a loss of €0.18.

thyssenkrupp group — statement of income

Year ended Year ended

million €, earnings per share in € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021
Sales 28,899 34,015
Cost of sales (29,184) (29,659)
Gross Margin (285) 4,356
Research and development cost (247) (234)
Selling expenses (2,195) (2,379)
General and administrative expenses (1,881) (1,540)
Other income 245 323
Other expenses (897) (114)
Other gains/(losses), net 1 32
Income/(loss) from operations (5,260) 443
Income from companies accounted for using the equity method 4 (106)
Finance income 1,188 725
Finance expense (1,525) (962)
Financial income/(expense), net (333) (343)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations before tax (5,593) 101
Income tax (expense)/income 52 (120)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations (net of tax) (5,541) (19)
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax) 15,134 (6)
Net income/(loss) 9,592 (25)
Thereof:

thyssenkrupp AG’s shareholders 9,685 (115)

Non-controlling interest 8 90
Net income/(loss) 9,592 (25)
Basic and diluted earnings per share based on

Income/(loss) from continuing operations

(attributable to thyssenkrupp AG’s shareholders) (8.91) (0.17)

Net income/(loss)

(attributable to thyssenkrupp AG’s shareholders) 15.40 (0.18)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Analysis of the statement of financial position
Total assets rose moderately overall compared with September 30, 2020.

Total non-current assets were slightly up on the year. This includes a decline in intangible assets,
due mainly to reclassifications of assets held for sale in connection with the disposal groups Mining
and stainless steel business. Property, plant and equipment also rose; additions in excess of
depreciation here were offset by reductions due to reclassifications of assets held for sale in
connection with the disposal groups Mining and stainless steel business. Non-financial assets also
increased, mainly due to higher advanced payments in connection with property, plant and
equipment in the Steel Europe segment. The decrease in investments accounted for using the equity
method and increase in other financial assets was mainly due to subsequent measurement of the
Elevator investment

Current assets also only recorded a slight increase overall. The very clear overall increase in
inventories comprised significant increases in materials business, also due to pricing, in the Steel
Europe and Materials Services segments, as well as in automotive businesses in the Automotive
Technology segment, which were offset by reductions due to reclassifications of assets held for sale
in connection with the disposal groups Mining and stainless steel business. The significant decline
in trade accounts receivable overall stemmed principally from reclassifications of assets held for sale
in connection with the disposal groups Mining and stainless steel business. The very significant fall
in cash, cash equivalents and time deposits was largely due to the early redemption at the beginning
of December 2020 of a bond originally maturing in March 2021, and payments for investments in
continuing operations, which were significantly higher than operating cash flows in the reporting year.
The additional decrease in contract assets was principally related to the execution of construction
contracts in plant construction business in the Multi Tracks segment. The increase in other financial
assets mainly resulted from derivative accounting. In addition, assets held for sale increased
substantially as a result of reclassifying non-current and current assets for the first time as of
September 30, 2021 in connection with the disposal groups stainless steel business, Mining, and to
a lesser extent Infrastructure.

Total equity increased year-on-year to €10,845 million at September 30, 2021. This was mainly due
to the gains from currency translation and from the revaluation of pensions and similar obligations
through other comprehensive income. They were offset by the slight loss in the reporting year. The
equity ratio increased to more than 29%.

The sharp decrease in non-current liabilities resulted mainly from the significant reduction in financial
debt. This particularly related to reclassifications of a bond due in March 2022 and a loan note due
in December 2021 to current financial liabilities. Additionally, the decline in provisions for pensions
and similar obligations was mainly caused by the gains on the revaluation of the pensions as a result
of higher pension discount rates; then there were reclassifications of liabilities in connection with
assets held for sale in connection with the disposal groups Mining, stainless steel business and
Infrastructure.
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Current liabilities went up significantly overall. The sharp rise in trade accounts payable mainly related
to the material businesses in the Steel Europe and Materials Services segments; it was offset by
reclassifications of assets held for sale in connection with the disposal group stainless steel business.
The increase in financial debt was due to the above-mentioned reclassification of a bond and a loan
note from non-current financial liabilities, which in turn was partly offset by the early redemption in
December 2020 of a bond originally due in March 2021. The increase in other non-financial liabilities
was primarily a result of higher liabilities in connection with non-income taxes and higher personnel
liabilities. The above increases were particularly offset by a significant fall in contract liabilities, mainly
from the execution of construction contracts in the plant construction business of the Multi Tracks
segment and the marine business, and to a lesser extent from reclassifications of liabilities in
connection with assets held for sale in the Mining disposal group. In addition, liabilities related to
assets held for sale increased substantially as a result of reclassifying non-current and current
liabilities in the reporting year in connection with the disposal groups stainless steel business, Mining,
and to a lesser extent Infrastructure.

thyssenkrupp group — statement of financial position

ASSETS

million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021
Intangible assets 2,075 1,892
Property, plant and equipment (inclusive of investment property) 6,319 6,513
Investments accounted for using the equity method 722 670
Other financial assets 658 718
Other non-financial assets 230 337
Deferred tax assets 497 472
Total non-current assets 10,501 10,602
Inventories 5,922 7,116
Trade accounts receivable 4,833 4,308
Contract assets 1,575 1,434
Other financial assets 535 849
Other non-financial assets 1,414 1,386
Current income tax assets 162 123
Cash, cash equivalents and time deposits 11,547 8,974
Assets held for sale 0 2,019
Total current assets 25,989 26,209
Total assets 36,490 36,811
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021
Capital stock 1,594 1,594
Additional paid-in capital 6,664 6,664
Retained earnings 1,472 1,771
Cumulative other comprehensive income 80 372

thereof: disposal groups - -34
Equity attributable to thyssenkrupp AG’s stockholders 9,810 10,400
Non-controlling interest 364 445
Total equity 10,174 10,845
Accrued pensions and similar obligations 8,560 7,896
Provisions for other non-current employee benefits 289 298
Other provisions 507 513
Deferred tax liabilities 58 60
Financial debt 5,303 3,784
Other financial liabilities 96 66
Other non-financial liabilities 6 1
Total non-current liabilities 14,819 12,619
Provisions for current employee benefits 156 176
Other provisions 1,188 1,175
Current income tax liabilities 166 151
Financial debt 1,199 1,640
Trade accounts payable 3,475 4,244
Other financial liabilities 665 729
Contract liabilities 3,073 2,205
Other non-financial liabilities 1,575 1,794
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 0 1,232
Total current liabilities 11,497 13,347
Total liabilities 26,316 25,966
Total equity and liabilities 36,490 36,811

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Financing

Principles and aims of financial management

The financing of the group is handled centrally by thyssenkrupp AG. It is based on a multi-year
financial planning system and a monthly rolling liquidity planning system covering a planning period
of up to a year. The cash inflows from our operating activities are our main source of liquidity. Our
cash management systems allow subsidiaries to use surplus funds of other units to cover their
liquidity requirements. This reduces the volume of external financing and thus interest expense.
External financing requirements are covered using money and capital market instruments such as
bonds, loan notes or commercial papers. We can also make use of committed credit facilities in
various currencies and with various terms, as well as selected off-balance financing instruments
such as factoring programs. Information on the available credit facilities is provided in Note 17.
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The aim of our central financing system is to strengthen our negotiating position vis-a-vis banks and
other market players and to raise or invest capital on the best possible terms and conditions.

Net financial assets and available liquidity

Net financial assets are calculated as the difference between cash, cash equivalents and time
deposits shown in the statement of financial position plus current debt instruments (subsequently
referred to as liquid funds), and non-current and current financial debt. At September 30, 2021 the
group has liquid funds of €9.0 billion which, after deducting gross financial debt of €5.4 billion,
results in net financial assets of €3.6 billion. As of September 30, 2020 net financial assets came to
€5.1 billion. The main reason for the lower total was negative FCF before M&A. The group’s available
liquidity was €10.5 billion as of September 30, 2021. It comprised liquid funds of €9.0 billion and
undrawn, committed credit lines of €1.5 billion.

The available liquidity offers enough scope to cover debt maturities. The gross financial debt
repayable in the 2021/2022 fiscal year amounts to €1.5 billion.

The financing and liquidity of the group were secured at all times in the reporting year.
Rating

We have issuer ratings from the rating agencies Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. Our ratings
are currently below investment grade.

RATING

Long-term rating Short-term rating Outlook
Standard & Poor’s BB- B negative
Moody’s B1 Not Prime stable
Fitch BB- B stable
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Analysis of the statement of cash flows

The amounts taken into account in the statement of cash flows correspond to the item “Cash and
cash equivalents and time deposits” less the time deposits contained therein as reported in the
statement of financial position. In the reporting year this item also included cash, cash equivalents
and time deposits in connection with the disposal groups Mining, stainless steel business and
Infrastructure, which were reclassified as held for sale.

Operating cash flows

Positive cash flow from continuing operations was generated in the reporting year, which is a very
significant improvement year-on-year. The main reasons for this were the strong improvement to
positive net income from continuing operations before depreciation and amortization, as well as
higher trade accounts payable and lower trade accounts receivable. They were offset by higher
inventories, mainly as a result of the positive business performance and price increases.

Cash flows from investing activities

The steep fall in cash flows from investing activities in continuing operations was mainly due to the
very high cash inflows reported in the prior year in connection with the Elevator transaction. The
significant year-on-year increase in cash inflows from disposals of continuing operations was
primarily the result of reducing time deposits with an original term of more than 90 days in the 1st
quarter of the reporting year.

Capital expenditure in the reporting year fell significantly year-on-year, with the investment in time
deposits of €850 million from the disposal proceeds of the elevator business accounting for a large
share. Segment capital expenditure was slightly up on the year. Significantly lower investment in
Materials Services, Automotive Technology and Multi Tracks was offset by higher investment in
Industrial Components, Steel Europe and Marine Systems. Capital expenditure was also reduced
significantly at Corporate Headquarters.

INVESTMENTS
4th quarter 4th quarter
Year ended Year ended ended ended
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in % Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change in %
Materials Services? 115 97 (16) 55 41 (25)
Industrial Components 176 225 28 88 92 5
Automotive Technology? 327 268 (18) 110 110 0
Steel Europe? 491 681 39 144 292 ++
Marine Systems 73 101 38 30 47 57
Multi Tracks? 141 107 (25) 61 41 (32)
Corporate Headquarters? 28 (1) -- 19 0 --
Reconciliation® 835 7 (99) 827 1 (100)
Group continuing operations?® 2,188 1,485 (32) 1,334 624 (53)
Discontinued elevator operations? 164 0 - 41 0 -
Full group 2,352 1,485 (37) 1,374 624 (55)

' See preliminary remarks.
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Free cash flow

Free cash flow from continuing operations was negative overall in the reporting year, and very much
lower, mainly due to the absence of the proceeds of the Elevator transaction received the prior year.

Free cash flow before M&A from continuing operations was significantly higher than in the prior year.
In addition to the operating performance, it was offset by the temporary increase in net current assets.

Cash flows from financing activities

The negative amount of cash flows from financing activities in continuing operations increased year-
on-year. The main reasons were the absence of inflows received the prior year in connection with
financing by discontinued operations, and lower payments overall for the repayment of borrowing.

RECONCILIATION TO FREE CASH FLOW BEFORE M&A

4th quarter

4th quarter

Year ended Year ended ended ended
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021 Change
Operating cash flows — continuing operations
(consolidated statement of cash flows) (4,224) 94 4,319 (1,053) 314 1,367
Cash flow from investing activities — continuing
operations (consolidated statement of cash flows) 12,595 (510) (13,105) 13,442 (622) (14,064)
Free cash flow — continuing operations (FCF)? 8,371 (416) (8,786) 12,389 (308) (12,697)
—/+ Cash inflow/cash outflow resulting from
material M&A transactions (14,637) 121 14,758 (14,705) 42 14,747
Adjustment due to IFRS 16 (98) (128) (30) (37) (55) (18)
Adjustment due to time deposits 850 (850) (1,700) 850 0 (850)
Free cash flow before M&A — continuing operations
(FCF before M&A)? (5,515) (1,273) 4,241 (1,503) (321) 1,182
Discontinued elevator operations? 680 0 (680) 123 0 (123)
Free cash flow before M&A - group
(FCF before M&A) (4,835) (1,273) 3,562 (1,380) (321) 1,059

D See preliminary remarks.

84



@OWME

thyssenkrupp annual report 2020/2021

2 Combined management report | Report on the economic position

THYSSENKRUPP GROUP - STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

Year ended Year ended
million € Sept. 30, 2020 Sept. 30, 2021
Net income/(loss) 9,592 (25)
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to operating cash flows:
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax) (15,134) 6
Deferred income taxes, net (185) (67)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of non-current assets 4,180 1,064
Reversals of impairment losses of non-current assets (3) (159)
Income/(loss) from companies accounted for using t